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ouNetworks Holdings LP (f.k.a Stonepeak Spear Cayman LP) (Reg: 93017, Cayman lslands)
Directors' ol euNetworks GP LLC Report
for the period ended 31 December 2018

Proflle

The Directors of euNetworks GP LLC (formerly known as Spear Cayman GP LLC) present their report on
euNetworks Holdings LP (formerly known as Slonepeak Spear Cayman LP) (the "Partnership"). and its
subsidiaries for the period ended 31 December 2018.

The principal activity of the Partnership is lhat ol an investment holding vehicle with investm€nts in
euNetworks Holdings 4 Limited and its subsidiary undertakings (the "Group"). No change to this activity is
currently envisaged.

On 11 January 2018 the Partnership acquired, through its subidiaries, the entire share capital of euNetworks
Holdings Limited from the investors in EUN Holdings LLP.

Review of the business

Pincipal activilies
The principal activity of the Group is as a bandwidth infraslructure provider under the trading name
"euNetworks'. The Group owns and operates 15 fibre based metropolitan networks across Weslern Europe,
with these networks connected by euNetworks' long haul network. euNetworks is a market leader in data
cenlre connectivity, directly connecting over 390 data centres in Europe. euNetworks is also a leading cloud
conneclivity provider. The Group offers a portfolio ol metropolitan and long-haul services including Dark
Fibre, Wavelengths and Ethernet. Wholesale, finance, content, media, data centre and enterprisg customers
benefit from euNetworks' unique inventory of fibre and duct based assets that are tailored to fulfil their high
bandwidth needs.

Resr,/ts a,?d pe fiomt an ce
Perlod from

23 October 2017
to 31 Dec 2018

€'m
148.2

78.30/o

54.5
(s2.0)

"Adjusted EBITDA' is defined as Earnings Before lnterest, Tax, Depreciation, Amortisation, profit / loss on
disposal of plant and equipment and long-term incentive plan costs.

The Group's loss before taxation for the period was largely due to depreciation amounting to €107.1m
resulting the fair valuation of the assels acquired following the acquisition of euNetworks Holdlngs Limited and
its subsidiaries on 11 January 2018 and finance cost amounting to €24.0m. The loss affertax for the period
was €78.1m.

Ctslorners
euNetworks delivers high bandwidth services to customers spanning the wholesale, finance, conlent, media,
data centre and enterprise segments.

Seruices provided
The Group delivers a focused product set centred on its core assets of owned fibre optic cables and
associated equipment. These assets are used to deliver targeted bandwidth solutions for customers.

Focused Products

Dark Fibre: The core assel of lhe business. euNetworks offers leased fibre by strand in the metropolitan and
long haul networks.

Revenue

Gross margin
Adjusted EBITDA
Loss before taxation
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euNotworks Holdings LP (f.k.a Stonepeak Spear Cayman LP) (Reg: 93017, Cayman lslands)
Directors' of euNetworks GP LLC Report (cont'd.)
forthe period ended 31 Decembor 2018

Wavelengths: Transmission product, offering high capacity connectivity, lypically belw€en data centres.
euNetworks offers this in the metropolitan and long haul networks.

Ethernet: Transmission product, offering private connections between data cenlres and many business
locations.

Non-focused products include Colocation and lnternet.

Bandwidth Solulions

euTrade: Ultra low latency services over euNetworks' dedicated network platform. Delivering induslry leading
services to the finance business segment.

DC Connect: Predeployed connectivity between key data centres in cities, with rapid service delivery
Available today in London, Frankfurt, Paris, the Netherlands and Manchester wilh further cities to follow.

Cloud Connect: Private and secure connection into the top cloud providers. with fixed, burstable and usage
based billing options and online ordering available.

euSpectrum: A cost effective alternative lo procuring long haul dark fibre while building a managed multi
terabit backbone.

Private Connect: A dedicated private network, oftering libre and equipment to a single cuslomer

Transactions with Limited Partners

Limited Partners' capital is subscribed, drawn down and repaid under the terms of the Amended and Restated
Exernpted Limited Partnership Agreement (the "LPA"). The Partnership has holders of Class A-1 Units and
Class B Profits lnterest Units. Each Limited Partner will be entitled to drawings on account of their share of the
prolils of the Partnership in such sum and at such times as may from time to time determined in accordance
with rhe LPA.

There have been no transfers of Limited Partners' interesls between equity and debt in the period or since the
period end.

General Partner

The General Partner of the Partnership is euNetworks GP LLC, which is managed by its Board of Directors
(the "Board of Directors"). The Directors who were in office during lhe period were:

Brian McMullen (appointed on 23 October 2017)
Peler Bruce (appointed on 23 October 201 7 and ceased 1 1 January 201 8)
Trent Vichie (appointed on 23 October 2017)
John T. Siegel, Jr. (appointed on 11 January 2018)
Neil Hobbs (appointed on 11 January 2018)
Brady Rafuse (appointed on 1 1 January 2018)
Bill Fathers (appointed on 1 1 January 2018 and ceased on 26 Sep 2018)
Jennifer Smith (appointed on 1 1 January 2018 and ceased on 28 March 2019)
Waldenar Szlezak (appointed on 1 1 January 2018 and ceased on 20 December 2018 )
Kai-Uwe Ricke (appointed on 1 1 January 2018)
Joshua Ho-Walker (appointed on 11 January 2018)
Cyrus Gentry (appointed on 1'l January 2018)

The Officers were ln office during the period:

Brady Rafuse (CEO) (appinted on 11 January 2018)
Richard Taylor (General Counsel) (appinted on 1 1 January 2018)
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euNetworks Holdings LP (f.k.a Stonepeak Spear Cayman LP) (Reg: 93017, Cayman lslands)
Directors'of euNetworks GP LLC Report (cont'd.)
for the period ended 3l December 201 I

Future developments

The Group will continue with its strategy of selling its focused product set to a targeted group of customers,
combined with network expansion to increase our addressable market, both organically and inorganically
through the acquisition of complementary businesses in adjacent geographies.

Prlncipal Risks and Uncertainties

The managernent of the business and execution of the Group's strategy are subject to a number of
commercial risks. Risks are reviewed by the Directors and appropriate processes put in place to monitor and
mitigate them. lf more than one event occurs, it is possible that the overall effecl of such events would
compound the possible adverse effects on the Partnership and the Group.

The key business risks affecting the Group are set out below:

Risk Mitiqatinq factors
Changes in technology
or commercial models
may impact demand for
the Group's services

. The Group continues to closely monitor key industry kends driving demand,
including the rollout of 5G, and developments in the lnternet of Things, Cloud
Computing, artificial intelligence, big dala. Vlrtual Reality, and ulka-high definition
video.
. The Group actively monitors competitor activity on key routes with regards to its
focussed products to ensure that its products and bandwidth solutions remain
competitively positioned and differentiated.
. The Group works with suppliers to ensure that its cost base remains competitive.
and to enable flexibility to respond to changing pricing and commercial dynamics.

The Group's business
plan relies on a
continuation of above-
market growlh

. The Group continues to expand its addressable market through ongoing network
development.
. The Group pro-actively attracts customers looking for an alternative to incumbenl
carriers that are unable to otfer the desired routes, services, and tolal cost ol
ownership.
. The Group tracks and monitors services at a customer level lo ensure continued
low cuslomer churn.
. The Group aclivoly targets high growth market segments e.g. Content and
Financial Services.

Reliance on third parties
to deliver certain services
may impact operational
service quality

. The Group works closely with our third parly suppliers to ensure third party service
levels meet customers' operational and commercial performance needs.
. The Group constructs its own network where possible to reduce thlrd party
dependencies, and we have sufficient access to capital to support planned
development projects.
. The Group actively seeks to recruit and retain the talent necessary to maintain our
standard of operational excellence.
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euNetworks Holdings LP (f.k.a Stonepeak Spear Cayman LP) (Reg: 93017, Cayman lslands)
Directors'of euNetworks GP LLC Report (cont'd.)
for the perlod ended 31 December 201 8

Disclosure ot intormalion to the auditors

So far as each of the current Directors and Ofticers is aware there is no relevant audit information of which the
auditors are unaware. Each Director or Officer has taken all steps that they ought to have taken as a director
or officer in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the
Partnership's independent auditors are aware of lhat information,

Post balance shs€t events

On 28 March 2019, the indirectly held subsidiary euNetworks Group Limited acquired 100% of the shares of
Onstage Online GmbH ("Onstage"), a fibre company headquartered in Vienna, Austria.

On 10 April 2019, the Partnership raised €50m from an issue of additional Class A-1 Units to existing Limited
Partners.

On 15 May 2019, the Group increased its term loan B facility by €30m on lhe same terms as the existing
€300m Term Loan B.

Statement of responsibilities in respect of the financlal statemonts

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and lhe financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulation.

Company law, as applied to limited liability partnerships by the Limited Liability Partnerships (Accounts and
Audit) (Application of Companies Act 2006) Regulations 2008 (the "Regulations"), requires the preparation of
financial statements for each financial period. Under that law the Directors have prepared the financial
statements in accordance with IFRS (lnternalional Financial Accounling Standards). Under company law, as
applied to the Partnerships, lhe embers must not approve the financial statements unless they are salistied
that they give lrue and fair view of lhe state of affairs of the Partnership and of the profit or loss of the
Partnership for that period. ln preparing the financial slatements, the members are required to:

. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently:

. make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

. stat€ whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRS; and

. prepare the financial statements on a going conc€rn basis unless it is inappropriate lo presume that the
Partnership will conlinue in business,

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the Partnership's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any tim€ the financial position of the
exempled limited partnership and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with Companies
Act 2006 as applied to the Partnerships by the Regulations.

The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assels of the Partnership and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other inegularilies.

On behalf of the Directors.

tq(W\--
Brady Rafuse
cEo
Director of euNetworks GP LLC

26 June 20'19
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euNetworks Holdings LP (f.k.a Stonepeak Spear Cayman LP) (Reg: 93017, Cayman lslands)
lndependent Auditor's Report
for the period ended 31 December 2018

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE PARTNERS OF EUNETWORKS HOLDINGS LP

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of euNetworks Holdings LP ("the Limited Partnership") and its
subsidiaries ("the Group) for the fifteen month period ended 31 December 2018 which comprise the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive lncome, Consolidated Statement of Financial Position,
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Partners' Equity and
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and lnternational
Financial Reporting Standards (lFRSs) as adopted by the European Union.

ln our opinion, the financial statements:

' give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's affairs as at 31 December 2018 and of its loss for
the period then ended; and

. have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with lnternational Standards on Auditing (UK) (lSAs (UK) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Limited Partnership and Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Gonclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the lSAs (UK) require
us to report to you where:

'the General Partner's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is not appropriate; or

. the General Partner has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties
that may cast significant doubt about the Group's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date wfien the financial statements are
authorised for issue.
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euNetworks Holdings LP (f.k.a Stonepeak Spear Cayman LP) (Reg: 93017, Cayman lslands)
lndependent Auditor's Report (cont'd)
for the period ended 31 December 2018

Other information

The General Partner is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the report and financial statements, other than the financial statements and our
auditor's report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

ln connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. lf we
identiff such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the
other information. lf, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the General Partner

As explained more fully in the Directors of euNetworks GP LLC Report in respect to the financial
statements, the General Partner is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the General Partner
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

ln preparing the financial statements, the General Partner is responsible for assessing the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the General Partner either intends to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an audito/s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with lSAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council's website at:
https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.
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euNetworks Holdings LP (f.k.a Stonepeak Spear Cayman LP) (Reg: 93017, Gayman lslands)
lndependent Auditor's Report (cont'd)
for the period ended 31 December 2018

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Limited Partnership's partners, as a body, in accordance with the terms
of our engagement lefter dated 25 June 2019. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might
state to the Limited Partnership's partners those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permifted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Limited Partnership and the Limited Partnership's partners as a
bo!y, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

6/0 L4
BDO LLP
Chartered Accountants
London, UK
4 July 2019

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number
oc305127).
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euNotworkc Holdlngo LP (t.k.a 9tonepeak Spear Gayman LP) (Reg: 930{7, Cayman lslande)
Consolldated Statemenl of Comprehensive lncome
for the perlod endod 3l Decembel 201E

Noteg

Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit

Adminislrative expenses
Operaling loss

Financial costs
Loss belore tax

lncome tax credit
Loss for lhe period

5

4

10

Period from
23 Oct 2017 to

3l Dec 2018
€'m

148.2
(32.2)

116.0

(184.0)

(68.0)

(24.0)

(e2.0)

13.9
(78.1)

I

Olher comprehensive income for the period, net of lax

Total comprehensive loss for period (78.1)

The accounting'policies and Notes on page 13 onwards fonn part of, and should be read in coniunction with,
these financial statements

9

Analysed as:
Adiusted EBITDA
Depreciation
Amortisation
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment
Management equity plan

Operating loss

't2
13

54.5
(107.1)

(5.5)
(1.2)
(8.7)30

(68.0)



euNetworks Holdlngs LP (f.k.a Stonopeak Spear Gayman LP) (Reg: 93017, Cayman lslands)
Consolidated Statement of Financlal Posltlon
asat3l December20lS

Notes
Non-curent assets
Plant and equipment
lntangible assels
Oeferred tax assets
Prepaymentg
Total non-current assets

Currqnt aseels
lnfrastructure assets held for resale
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Prepayments
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

12

13

't4
15

3l Dec 201 8

€'m

911.4
312.8

0.s
2.6

43.7

1 ,271.4

8.9
45.7

0.6
552

313.6
2.6

28.0
107.5
451"7

764.5

1,227.7

17

18

19

15

20

0.1

23.8
2.7

5.0
12.1

Total assets

Current llabillties
lnterest bearing borrowings
Oeferrod r€venue
Trade and other payablgs
lncome tax payable
Total currenl liabilities

Non.current llabllltles
lnterest-bearing loans and bonowings
Provlsions
Deferred revenue
Deferred tax liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

21

22

23
24

21

14

Net assets

Equity
Members' interest
Employee 6hare option reserve
Retained earnings

The financial statemenls were approved on behalf of lhe Board of Directors of lhe General Partner and
authorised for issue by.

833.9
8.7

(78.1)

764.5

25
26
26

trtrt,vlt-
cEo
Director of euNetworks GP LLC
26 June 2019

The accounling policies and Notes on pagg 13 onwards form part of, and should be read in conjunction wilh,
these financial statements
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euNeturorks Holdings LP (f.k.a Stonepeak Spear Cayman LP) (Reg: 93017, Cayman lslands)
Consolldated Statement of Cash Flows
for the period ended 31 December 2018

Noles

Operating activities
Loss before tax
Adjustment for:
Depreciation of plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangibles
Management equity plan

Financial costs
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital

Changes in working capital
lncome tax paid

Net cash flows from operating actlvltles

lnvestlng activlties
Purchase of euNetworks Holdings Limited and
its subsidiaries, net of cash acquired

Purchase of plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets

Net cash flows used ln lnvestlng actlvlties

Financlng activltiea
Debt raised
Repayment of debt
Members capital issued and buyback
lnterest paid

Net cash flows from flnanclng activitles

Effect ofexchange rates on cash and cash equivalents

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period
Cash and cash equlvalents at the end of the period

12
13

30
I
12

3l Dec 2018

€'m

(e2.0)

107.1

5.5
8.7

24.0
1.2

27

82.1

11 (1,032.8)
(6e.8)

(1.1)
(1,103.7)

320.0
(100.0)

833.9
(20.21

1,033.7

12.1

20 12.1

54.5
28.3
(0.7)

13

23

23
25

8

The accounting policies and Notes on page 13 onwards form part of, and should be read in conjunclion with,
these fi nancial statements
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eul{eturorks Holdlng3 LP (f.k.a Stonepeak gpear Cayman LP} (Reg: 93017, Gayman lslandsl
CorBolldated 9tatemcnt of Changee ln Partnerc Equlty
for the perlod ended 3l December 2018

l|lombels
lnteresl

Notec €m

equlu plan
nea9w€a

Retalned
eernlng3

€m€m

Totd
oqulty

€mGroup

At lnception 23 October 2017
Loss for the period, represenllng totel

comprehenrive income for lhe pedod

Conlributions by and distributions to on ners:
Members' Class Al lntErest
lVlembers'Cle33 B Profit lnteresl Unils

Managernenl oquily plan
Balancc as at 31 Decsmber 2018

(78.1) (78.1)

833.4 833.4
0.5
8.78.7

(78.1) 7Us

0.5
25
25

The accounting policies and Not€s on page 13 onwards fom part of, and should be read in conjunction with,
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euNetworls lloldinge LP (t.k.a Stonepeak Sperr Cayman LP) (Reg: 93017, Cayman lslands)
Notes to tho Flnanclal Statements
forthe porlod onded 31 Decombor20lS

1. Partrershlp lnformatlon

euNetworks Holdings LP (formerly known as Stonepeak Spear Cayman LP) (lhe "Partnershlp') ls an exempted
limit€d parlnership formed on the 23 Oclober 2017 and registered in the Cayman lslands. The regislered oflice of
the Pailn€rshlp is at Maples Corporate Services Limited, PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,
Cayman lslands.

The principal aclavily of lhe Parlnership is an inveslment holding parent br ils subsidiaty, euNelworks Holdings 4
Limited.

The ptincipal aclivlty of the Parlnership'g subsidiary is an investment holding and acting as a corporate manager,
advisor and administrative cenlr€ to support the business development and marketing of lhe businesses of its
subsidiaries. The principal activity of the subsidiaries is disclosed in Note 16 to the financial slatements. The
Group operates high capacity flbro networks, provldes high capacity communicalions infraslructure and
networklng solutions and services under lhe trading name "euNetworks".

The Group is a bandwidth infrastructure provider. The Group owns and operates 15 fibre based metropolltan
networks across Western Europe, with these networks connect€d by euNelworks' long haul network. euNetworks
leads lhe markel in data cenlre conneclivity, dkectly connecling over 390 data csnhes in Europe. euNetworks is
also a leading cloud connectivily provider. The Group offers a porlfolio of metropolitan and long-haul sen ices
including Dark Fibre, Wavelenglhs and Ethemet. Wholesale, linance, contenl, media, dala centre and enterprise
customers beneft from €uN€tworks' unique lnvenlory of fbre and duct based assels thal are tailored io fullil lheh
high bandwldlh needs.

ln parllcular, lhe Group operates a network which combines a 'bng-haul' intercity network linking Germany, the
Nethedands, th€ Unlt€d Kingdom, lreland, France, Belgium, Austria, Sweden, Denmark, Swilzerland and high
densily 'last-mile' metropolitan optical fbre nelworks in London, Frankfurt, Munich, Berlin, Stultgart, Hamburg.
Dusseldorf, Cologne, Paris. Amsterdam. Rotterdam, Utrechl, Manchester, Dublin and Vlenna. Ducl lnfrastructure
is in place in The Hague and Hanover. The Group also has a nalionwide network in Germany.

The Group delivers a focused product sel cenlred around lts core assets of owned fibre optic cables and
associaled equipment. These assels are used to deliver largeted bandwidlh solulions for cuslomcrs.

The Group also operates a secure dala centre hcility in Amslerdam and 21 colocalion sites in Germany

The funclional and presenlational currency for the Group is lhe Euro. This retlects the primary trading currency of
lhe business,

13



sullotworks Holdlngs LP (f.k,a Stonspeak Spe.r C.yman LP) (Reg: 93017, Caymen lslandsl
Note! to tho Flnancial Statement3
fo? the perlod onded 3l December 2018

2. Slgnlllcant accountlng Judgements, estlmatos and assumptlon8

2,1 Brsir of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance wilh lnternaiional Financial Reporting
Standards fIFRS), lntemalional Accounting Standards and lnterpretations issusd by the lnl€rnational
Accountlng Standards Board ('IASB') as adopled by the European Unlon C'adopled IFRS").

The accounting policies which follow set out lhose pollcles whlch apply ln preparlng the financial slatements
for lhe period ended 31 December 2018. The Parlnership was formed on 23 October 2017. The
consolidated income stalgment and olher comprehenEive income covers the perlod fom 23 October 2017 to
31 December2018.

The preparalion of linancial slalemenls in compliance with adopted IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounling estimates. ll also requires manag€ment to ex€rcis€ judgement in applying the Group and
Parlnershlp's accounllng policles. The areas where significant ludgements and eslimates have been made
in preparing lhe Financial Slatements and lheir effecl are disclosed in Note 3.

The individual linancial slalemonts ofeach Group enlity are measured and presented in the curr€ncy of the
prlmary economic environmenl ln which lhe entity operates (lts funclional currency). The consolidated
linancial statements of the Group and the slaiernenl of financial posltion and stalement of changes in equity
of lhe Group are presentod in Euros ("€"), which is the functional currency of lhe Group and the presentation
currency for the consolidated linancial statements. Euro is lhe prosentation curr€ncy of the Group as the
major part of the Group's buslness has been canled oul in Euros. All values presenled are .ounded to lhe
nearest million ('€'m"), €xcepl vrhen indicaled otherwise.

a) New slandards, interpretallons and amendments effective from 1 January 2018

The Group has early adopted IFRS 15 and IFRS g. The nslure and effecl of the changes as a resull of
adoption of these new accounting slandards are described below.

Several other amendmenls and lnlerprelations apply for lhe first time in 2018. bul do nol have an impact on
lhe consolidaled linancial statemenls of the Group.

New standards lmpactlng lhe Group thal will be adopted in lhe linancial statements for the period ended 31
Oecember 2018, and which have given rise to changes in the Group's accounling policies are:

IFRS 9 - Financial instruments

IFRS I Financial lnsl.uments replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39 Financial lnslruments: Recognitlon
and Measurement: IFRS 9 includ€s revised guidance on the classilication and measuremenl of linancial
instruments, including a new expecled loss model for calculaling impairmenl on linancial asset6. and lhe
new general hedge accounting requirements. lt also carrles foMard the guldance on recognitlon of fnancial
instruments from IAS 39.
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euNetworks Holdlng* LP {f.k.a Slonepeak Spear Cayman LP) (Reg: 93017, cayman lslands)
Notes to the Flnanclal Statements
tor the perlod ended 31 December 2018

2. Signiflcant accountlng iudgements, estlmates and assumptlons (cont'd.)

2.1 Easis of preparation (cont'd,)

a) Nev/ standards, interpretations and amendments eftective from 1 January 2018 (cont'd.)

IFRS 9 - Financial instruments (cot1l'd.)

ti t Classilication and measutenent

IFRS 9 contains a new classification and measuremenl approach for financial assets that is a function of
the business model, in which assets are managed and their cash llow characleristics. IFRS I includes
three principle classification caiergories for financial assels lhose measured at amortised cost, at lair
valuue through other comptehensive income and al tair value lhrough profil or loss. ll eliminates the
exisling IAS 39 calegories of held to maturity, loans and receivables and available-for-sales financial
ass€ts.

(iil ltnDarment

IFRS 9 requires lhe Group lo record expected credit losses on all of its loans and trade receivables, either
on a 12-monlh or lifelime basis. The Group applied the simplified approach mandaled to trade receivables
by recording lifetime expecled losses. The Group applied the general approach lo the Group's amortis€d
cost linancial assets, other than trade receivables including, but not limited lo. cash and cash equivalenls.

Loss allowances are measured on either of the lollowing bases:

12-monlh basis - lhese are expected credit losses lhat result from defaull evenls on a flnancial
instrument that are possible within the 12 months afl€r the reporling dale. or

Lifetlme basis - lhes€ are expected credit losses that resull from all possible default events over lhe
expecled life ot a financial instrumenl.

lmpairment provisions for trade receivables are recognised based on the simplified approach within IFRS g

using lhe lifetime expected credit losses. During lhis process the probabilty of the non-payment of th€ trade
receivables is assessed. This probablity is lhen multipli€d by the amount of lhe expected loss arising from
default to delermine the lifelime expected credil loss for the trade receivables. For lrade receivables, which
are reporled net, such provisions are recorded in a separate provision account wilh lhe loss being
recognised within cost of sales ln the consolldated slatemenl of comprehensive income. On confirmalion
that the lrade receivable v/ill not be collecled. the gross carrying value ot the asset is written off against lhe
associaledprovision.Thelossprovisionpercenlagewasl.63%fortheperiodended3l December2018.

Wlth the exceplion of hedge accounting, which the Group applied prospectively, lhe Group has applied
IFRS I retrospeclively, wilh an initial applicalion date of 23 October 2017.

/FRS 15 - Revenue frcm Conttacts wilh Cuslomers

IFRS 15 supersedes IAS'l 1 Construction Contracls, IAS 18 Revenue and relaled lnlerpretalions and it

applies, wilh limited exceptions, to all revenue arising lrom contracls with ils customers. IFRS 15
establlshes a five-step model to account for revenue arising ftom contracls with customers and requires
lhal revenue be recognised at an amount thal reflects lhe consideralion to which an entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for lransferring goods or services to a customer.

IFRS 15 requlres entltles lo exercise iudgement, laking into consideration all of lhe relevant facts and
circumslances vrhen applying each slep oflhe model to contracts with thelr cuslomers. The standard also
specifies lhe accounting for the incremenlal costs of obtaining a contracl and the cosls directly related to
fulfilling a contract. ln addilion, the slandard requires extensive disclosures.
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euNetworks Holdings LP (f.k,a Slonepeak Spear Cayman LP) (Reg: 93017, C.yman lslands)
Notes to the Financirl Ststements
for the perlod ended 31 Decambet 2018

2. Slgnltlcant accountlng iudgemonts, estlmates and assumptlons (cont'd.)

2.1 Basls of preparatlon (cont'd.)

/FRS t5 - Revenue from Contracts with CL,stomerc (cont'd.)

The Group early adopt€d IFRS 15. The effect oflhe transition on the curr€nt period has nol been disclosed
as lhe standard provides an optional practical expedient. The Group did not apply any of lhe other available
optional practical expedients.

b) Standards and interprelalions issued but not yet effective

/FRS t6 - Leasing (mandatorily effective frotn I January 2019)

The standard is effective for periods commencing on or after 1 Jarluary 20'19 and will be adopted by the
Group in the year ending 31 December 2019. Under the provisions of the standard mosl leases, includlng
the majority of those previously classified as operating leases. rvill be brought on to lhe statemenl of
financial position, as both a righl-of-use asset and a largely offsetling lease liability. The right-of-use asset
and lease liabilily are both based on the presenl value of lease payrnents due over the lerm of lhe lease,
wilh the asset being depreciated in accordance with IAS 16'Property, Plant and Equipment'and the liability
increased for lhe accrelion of interest and reduced by lease payments. lt will result in a signilicanl
proportion of the Group's leases with a tenn ot greater lhan one year being recognised on the balance
sheet by lessees, as the distinction between operaling and finance leases is removed. Under lhe new
standard, an assel (the right to use the leased ilem) and a financial liability to pay renlals are recognised.
The only exceptions are shorl-lerm and low-value leases.

IFRS 16 is expected to have a signiticant impact on lhe amounts recognised in lhe Group's consolidaled
financial statements. On adoplion of IFRS 16 the Groupwill recognise within ihe balance sheet a right of
use asset and lease liability for all applicable leases. Within lhe incolne statement, rent expense will be
replaced by deprecialion and interest expense. This will result in a decrease in cosl of sales and an
increase in finance costs. The standard will also impact a number of stalulory measures such as operating
prolii and cash generated froln operalions, and allernative perfonnance measures used by the Group.

The full impact of IFRS 16 is currenlly under review, including understanding the praclical application ofthe
principles of the standard. The group estlmates thal the impact on lhe financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 201 I will be an increase in EBITDA ol between €32m - €35m.

The Group will apply the standard from its mandatory adoption date of 1 January 2019. The Group intends
to apply the simplified lransition approach and will not reslale comparative amounts for lhe year prior lo lirst
adoption. All right-o[use assets will be measured at the amount of the lease liability on adoption (adjusted
for any prepaid or acclued lease expenses).

IFRIC 23 Uncenarnty over hrcome Tax Posfions

IFRIC 23 clarifies how lo recognise and measure current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities
when there is uncertainty over lncome tax lreatmenls. addressing whether to consider uncerlain tax
treatrnents separately; assumptions aboul the exarninalion of tax treatmenls by taxation authorities;
determinalion of laxable prolit or loss, tax bases, unused tax losses. unused tax credils and lax rales; and
consideration of changes in facls and circumslances.
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euNetworks Holdlngs LP (t.k.a Stonepeak Spear Cayman LPI (Reg: 930'17, Cayman lslands)
Notes to the Financial Ststements
for the perlod ended 31 December 2018

2. Slgnlflcant accounting judgements, estlmates and assumptions (sonfd.)

2.1 Basls ol proparatlon (cont'd.)

b) Standards and interpr€talions issued bul not yet effective (cont'd.)

Other

The Group does nol expecl any olher standards issued by the IASB, bul not yel effective, lo
have a malerial impaci on lhe Group.

Amendnents to /FRS 9j Prcpayment Features wilh Negative Compensation (effective 1 January 201 8)

Amendmenls to IAS 28: Long-term rnleresls ,n Associates and Joint Ventures (effective 1 January 2019)

Amendments lo /FRS 3: Definition of a Susiness
Annual lmprovemenls lo /FRSS 2015-2017 Cycle (IFRS 3 Srrsrness Combinations and IFRS 11 Joint
Auangements, IAS 12 lncome laxes, and IAS 23 Bonowing Costs) (effective 1 January 2019)

IFRS 17 Insurance Contrccts (effective I Januaty 2021)

The Group has not early adopted any standards, interprelations or amendmenls that have been issued but
are not yet effeclive.

2.2 Basis of concolldatlon

The consolidated financial stalements incorporate the financial statements of the Parlnership and ils
subsidiaries at lhe reporting date. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Partnership has control. The
Group conkols an investee iflhe Group has povler over lhe investee, exposure to variable returns from the
investee. and the ability to use its power to afiect lhose variable relurns. Conkol is reassessed whenever
facts and circumslances indicate lhat there may be a change in any of lhese elements of conlrol.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from lhe date on which control is lransferred lo tho Group up lo the affective
dale on rvhich control ceases, as appropriale.

lnlra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group
lransaclions are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses rnay be an impalrmonl indicator of th6 ass6t
concerned,

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared lor the same reporling period as that of lhe
Partnership. using consislent accounting policies. Where necessary, accountlng pollcies of subsidlarles are
changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by olher members of the Group.

Changes in the Group's interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of conlrol are accounted for as
equity lransactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to rellect the changes in lheir relative interesls in the subsidiary. Any ditference between lhe
amount by whlch the non-controlling interests are adjusled and the fair value of lhe consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed lo members of the Parlnership.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary it derecognises the assels and llabilities of the subsldlary and
any non-controlling inleresl. The protil or loss on disposal is calculaled as lhe difference belween (i) the
agorogate of the fair value of the consideralion received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii)

lhe previous carrying amounl of lhe assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
conlrolling interests. Amounls previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to lhe
subsidiary are accounted for (i.e. reclassified lo prolil or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings) in
lhe same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposod of. The fair value of
any investmenls relained in the former subsidiary al the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on inilial recognition for subsequent accounling under IFRS I Financial lnstruments: Recognition and
Moasur€rnenl or. when applicable, the cosl on inilial recognition of an inveshnent in an associale or jointly
conlrolled entity.
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eul{otworks Holdlngs LP (t k.a Stonopo.k Spear Cayman LPI (Reg: 930'17, Caymrn lslands)
l{otes to the Flnrnclrl Statement$
for the porlod ended 3l December 2018

2, Slgnflcant accountlng Judgements, o3tlmates and assumptlons (confd.)

2,5 Buslnesscombinataons

The acquisilion ofsubsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisilion method. The consideration translerred
for the acquisilion is measurcd at lhe aggregate of the fair values, al ih€ date ol exchange, of assels given,
liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity inslruments lssued by lhe group in exchange for conlrol of the
acquiree. Acquisilion-related costs are recognised in proft or loss as incurred. Cons'rderalion also includes
lhe fah value of any contingont consideralion. Gonlingent consideration classilied as a financial liability is
remeasured subsequenlly to fair value lhrough prolil or loss.

The acquiree's idenlillable assets, llabilities and contingenl liabilities that meet the conditions for recognitlon
under IFRS 3 are recognised at lheir fair values at lhe acquisition date.

Where a business comblnatlon is achleved in slages, the Group's prevlously held lnterests ln lhe acquired
entity are re-measured to hir value at the acquisilion date (i.e. the date lhe Group attains control) and lhe
resulting gain or loss, if any. is recognised in profil or loss.

Amounts arising from interesls in the acquiree prior to the scquisltion date lhai have previously been
recognised in olher comprehensive income are reclassified to profil or loss, where such treatmenl would be
appropriale if that intersst were disposed of.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset at the acquisition dale and inilially measured at the
excess of tha sum of lhe consideration transferred. the amount of any non-controlling interest in lhe acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer's pr€viously held equity interest (if any) in the entity over nel acquisition-
date fair value amounts of lhe idenlifiable assels acquired and the liabilities assumed.

lf, afier reassessment, the group's interest ln the net fair value of the acqulree's idenliliable net assels
exceeds the sum of lhe consideralion lransferred, lhe amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquir€e
and lhe fair value of lhe acquirer's previously held equity interest ln the acquiree (if any), the excess ls
recognised immediately in protil or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

2.1 Revenuerecognltlon

Revenue is measured al the falr value of lhe conslderatlon recelved or receivable. Revenue is presented
net of estimat€d customer relurns, rebates, other similar allowances and sales related laxes.

Renderino of network servic€s

Revenue frorn rendering services in conneclion wilh lhe libre nelworks and data centre colocation services
of the Group is recognised wh€n lhe services are performed. Payments received in advance for such
services aro deferrgd and recognised based on aclual usage.

lnstallation fees are deferred as unearn€d income and recognised over the period of lhe conlract.
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euNetworks Holdlngs LP (t.k.a Stonepeak Spear C.yman LP) lReg: 93017, Cayman l3lends)
Nolos to the Flnancial Statementg
for the perlod ended 3l Decembsr 2018

2. Slgnlflcant accountlng ,udgements, estlmates and assumptlons (confd.)

2.1 Revenue recognltlon (confd.)

Sale of ilems ol network infrastruclure

The Group, in lhe course of ils ordinary ac{ivities, routinely sells items of network infrastructure which it had
previously held for use in its network services. The proceeds from such sales are recognised a9 revenue,

R€venue is recognised when significant risks and rewards of ownership are transfened to lhe buyer and the
amounl ofrevenue and lhe cosls oflhe lransaclion (including fulure cost6) can be measured r€liably. The
enterprise relalns nellher conllnuing managerial involvement to lhe degree usually assoclaled with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold.

Dala cenlre power revenues

The Group purchases the supply of power to a dala cenlr€ for both its own us€ and for lh€ supply of power
lo lhe customers' server €quipment held ln lhat data centre. The Group makes separate charges to lts
customets, in addltion to those it raises tor lhe supply of colocation facilities, to recover lhe elemenl of power
cosl lhal relates to the use of power by custorner equipment. Such recharges are recognised as revenuo in
lhe period in whlch lhe power ls consumed.

Reven ue fr om $qtrtlgalc.ullb-!0lustsmgts

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly affect the determlnatlon of lhe amount and
liming of revenue from conlracts wilh cuslomers:

lde ntu ng p erto ma nce obllgatioD s

The Group provides fibre net$,orks connection services and daia centre colocation s€rvices. Payments are
received in advance for such servicas are deferred and recognised based on provision of lhe services and
actual usage.

The Group also charges installalion fees arising frorn the provision of the above services which are
amortised over the period of lhe inilial contract.

Additionally, the Group also sells on an ad.hoc basis items ol network infrastructures which had previously
held for use in ils nelwork services. The proceeds from such sales are recognlsed as revenue.

The Group also recharges the power supply usage of customers' servet equipment held in data c€ntres and
such recharges are recognised as revenue on a marked-up basls ln the perlod ln whlch the power is
consumed.

Delermining the tin ng of safisfaction of pertormance obligation

The Group concluded thal revenue for services is lo be recognised based on aclual usage at lhe point of
lime because the cuslomet slmultaneously recelves and consumes lhe benetits provided by the Group.

Additionally, lhe installation fees charged to cuslomers are amortised over lhe period of the conlracl.

The revenue from one-off sales of n€lwork lnfrastructure ar€ determined at lhe date when th€ rlsk and
rewards of ownership of tha network equipment are transferred to the buyer and the Group neither relains
any manag€rial involvernenl associated lo the ownership nor effective control over ilre goods sold.
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euiletworks Holdlngs LP (f.k.a Stonepsak Spear Cayman LPI (Reg: 93017, Cayman lslandsl
Notes to the Flnanclal Staloments
for the porlod endod 3l Docember 2018

2. Slgnltlcant accountlng Judgomonts, ostlmatos and arsumptions (confd.)

2,4 Revenue recognltlon (confd.)

Revenue ftom Contracts wlth Customers - rcontu.l

Delermining method to eslimale variable considerclio, and assessing the conslrai,tt

Certain contracls for the sale of equlpment include a righl of retum and volume rebates lhat give rise to
variable conslderatlon. Additlonally, the inslallalion fees charged to cuslomers are amortised over the perlod
of lhe contract.

2.5 lncome tar

lncome tax expense represents the surn of the tax cunenlly payable and defer.ed tax.

Cunent incorne tax

The tax currenlly payable ls based on taxable profit for the period. Taxable prolil differs from profit as
reporled protit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense thal are taxable or deductible in olher
years and it further excludes lterns that are nol taxable or tax deduclible. The Group's liabilily for cunent tax
is recognised at lhe amount expecled lo b€ paid or recovered from the tax aulhorilies and calculated using
lax rates (and tax laws) lhat have been enacted or substanlively enacled in counkies where lhe Parlnership
and subsidiaries operate by lhe 6nd ot the financial year.

Oel€rred tax

Defened tax is recognised on all lemporary differences belween lhe carrying amounls ot assets and
lhbililies in lhe financial slalemenls and lhe corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. and are ac@uded for using lhe balance sheet llabluly malhod. Deferred tax liabilities are gen€rally
recoonised for all taxable lemporary diflerences and defered lax assels are recognised to lhe extent that it
is probable lhat taxable protits wlll be available against which deductible temporary dlfierences can be
utilised. Such assels and liabilities are nol recognised if lhe lernporary diff€rence arises from goodwill ot
from ihe inilial recognilion (olher lhsn in a business combinalion) of other assets and liabililies in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable prolit nor lhe accounting profil.

Defened lax liabilities are recognised on taxable lemporary differences arising on lnvestmenls in
subsidlaries excepl where the Group is able lo control th€ reversal of lhe lemporary ditference and it is
probable lhat the temporary differ€nce will nol reverse in the foreseeablg future.
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euNetwork3 Holdhgs LP (f.k.a Stonopoak Spoar Cayman tP) (Reg: 93017, Cayman lslands)
Itlotes to the Flnanclal Stat€ments
for the porlod ended 3l Decembor 2018

2. Slgnlllcantaccountlngludgements, eotlmatos and assumptlons (confd,)

2.6 lncome tax (cont'd.)

Defened tax tcontu.r

The carrying amount of deferred lax assets is roviewed at tho end of each financial year and reduced to lhe
exlent that ll is no longer probable thal suflicient laxable profits wlll be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Defen€d tax is calculated at lhe tax rales lhat are expected lo apply in lhe period when lhe liability is settled
or the asset realised based on lhe lax rates (and tax laws) lhat have b€en enacted or subslanlively enacted
by lhe end ofthe flnancial pedod.

Deterred tax assets and llabllitles are ofbet when there is a legalv enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against currenl lax liabilities and when they relale to income taxes levied by lhe same taxation
authority and th6 Group and the.Partne6hip intends to setlle its curent tax assets and liabilities on a net
basls.

Current and deferred tax are recognised as an exg€nse or income in ihe slatement of profil or loss and other
compfehensive income, except when they relate to ilems credited or deblted directly to equity, in which case
the tax i6 also recognised dheclly in equlty, or where thsy aris€ lrom lhe initial accounllng for a buslnoss
comblnallon. ln the case of a buslness combination, the tax effect is taken into account in calculaling
goodwill or d€termining the excess of lhe acquirer's interesl in the nel fair value of the acquiree's identiliable
assets. liabilities and conlingent liabilities over cost,

Sales tax

Revenue, expenses and asseb are recognised net of the amount ol ssles tax except:

. When the sales taxation lhat is incurred on purchase of assets or services is not recoverable ftom the
laxation authorilies, in which case lhe sales tax is recognised as parl of lhe cost of acquisilion of lhe assel or
as part of the expense item as applicable: and

. Receivables and payables lhat are stated with lhe amount of sales lax included.

The net amounl of sales lax recoverable from, or payable lo lhe taxation authority is included as parl of
receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

2.6 Employee bonofits

Delined conlribution olans

Payrnenls to defined conirlbution retirement benelit plans are recognised as an expense in the staternent of
profil or loss and olher comprehensive income in lhe same financial year as lhe employment that giv€s rise
to lhe contributlons.

Emplovees' loavo enlitlomgnt

Employee entillements to annual leave are recognised rvhen lhey accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave expected to be setlled wholly within 12 months from the reporting
date as a result of services rendered by employees up lo lhe end of the financial year.
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euNetvorks Holdlngs LP (f.k.a Stonopeak Spear Cayman LP) (Reg: 93017, Cryman lslands)
Notes to the Flnanclal Statements
for tho perlod ended 31 Dacember 2018

2. Slgnltlcant accountlngJudgemonts, estlmates and assumptlons (confd,l

2,7 gorrowing colts

Borrowing cosls are charged lo profil over the term of the debt so thal the amount charged is al a conslanl
rate on lhe carrying amount. Finance costs include issue cosls, which are inilially recognised as a reduction
ln lhe proceeds of lhe associated capital instrument.

2.8 Foreign currency transaction3 and translatlon

ln preparing the linancial stalements of lhe individual entilies, lransaclions in cunencies olher than lhe
enlity's functional currency are recorded at lhe rale of exchange prevailing on lhe dale of the transaction. At
lhe end of each financial year, monelary ilems denorninated in for€ign currencies are ret.anslated al the
rates prevailing as of lhe end of the fnanclal year. Non-monetary ilems canied at falr value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are relranslaled at the rates prevailing on lhe dale when the tair value
was delermined, Non-mon€lary ilems lhal are rneasured in t€nns of historical cost in a foreign currency are
llol relranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the sottlement of monetary items. and on rslranslation of monelary items
are lncluded in prolit or loss for lhe period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary ilems carried al fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for dlfferences arislng
on the retranslalion of non.monetary items in respecl of which gains and losses are recognised direclly in
equity. For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of lhat gain or loss is also recognised
direclly in equity.

For the purpose of ptesenting consolidated financial slalemenls, lhe assets and liabililies of the Group's
foreign operations (including comparatives) are expressed in Euros using exchange rates prevailing at lhe
end of the financial period. lncome and expense items (including comparativos) aro lranslal€d st lhe
average exchange rates for the perlod, unless exchange rales lluctuated signiticanlly during that period, in
which case the exchange rates at the dates ot the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any. are classilied as equity and lransferred to the Group's foreign currency lranslalion reserve. Such
lranslatlon dlffetences are recognised in prolit or loss in the period in which lhe foreign operation is disposed
of.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translalion of lhe net investment in foreign entities
(including monetary ltems lhat, in substance. form part of th€ net investmenl in foreign entilies). and of
borrowings and olher currency inslruments designated as hedges of such investments. are laken to the
loreign currency lranslalion reserve.

On disposal of a toreign operation. the accumulated foreign exchange reserye relating lo that operation is
reclassified to profil or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adiustments arising on the acquisition of a loreign operation are treated as assets
and liabililies ol the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.
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euNetwork! Holdings tP (l.k.a Stonepeak Spear Cayman LP) (Reg:93017, Cayman lslande)
Notes to the Flnanclal Statements
for tho period ondod 31 Docember 2018

2. Slgnlllcant accountlng rudgernent6, e8tlmates and assumptlons (cont'd.)

2.5 Plsnt and equipment

All items of plant and equipment are initially recognised al cost. The cosl includ€s lls purchaso price and
any costs diroctly attributable to bringing the asset to lhe localion and condilion ne,cessary for it to be
capable of operatlng ln lhe manner lntended by management. Dlsmantlement, removal or resloralion ie
incur.ed as a consequence of acquirlng or uslng the plant and equlpment.

Subsequent expenditure on an item of plant and equipment is added to lhe carrying amounl of the item if il is
probable that futur€ economic benefils associated with the item will flow to the Group and lhe cost can be
measured reliably. All other cosls of servlclng are recognised in proflt or loss when incurred.

Plant and equipmenl are subsequently staled at cosl le66 accurnulated depreclatlon and any accumulated
impairmenl losses.

Depreciation is charged so as lo write off lhe cost of assets, over their eslimated useful lives, using the
skaighl-line method. on the following bases:

Oftice equipment and furniture
Network equipment
Telecommunication netwo*s

over 3 to '10 years
ovor 3 to 20 years

over 20 years

The canying values of plant and equipmenl are reviewed lor impainn€nl when events or changes in

clrcumstanc€s lndicate thal the carrying value may not be recoverable,

The estimaled useful lives, residual values and deprecialion methods are reviewed, and adiusted as
appropriate. at the end of the ffnancial year.

Assels held under finance leases are depreciated over iheir expected useful lives on lhe same basis as
owned assets or, if lhere is no certainty thal the lessee will obtaln olnership by the end of lho lease lerm,
lhe asseta are fully depreclated over the shorter ol lhe lease term and ils useful life.

An ltem of plant and equipmenl is derecognlsed upon disposal or when no future economic benelils are
expected from its use or disposal. The gain or loss arising on disposal or rellrement of an item of plant and
equipment is determined as lhe difference between lhe sales proceeds and lhe carrying amount of the assel
and ls recognlsed in lhe statemenl of prolil or loss and other comprehensive income,

The Group capilalises cosls directly associated rvith expansions and improvements of lhe Group's
telecommunications network and customer installations, costs associated wilh nelwork construclion and
provlsionlng ol services. This includes employee relaled cogls. The Group amo(iges such cosls over an
estimated useful life of 3lo 20 years.

The Group lransfers infraslructure assets lrom plant and €qulpment to inventories at their carrying arnounl at
lhe datb on whlch lhe lntended use of the assel changes from network servic€ delivery to inftastructuro sale
ot assets. These items are carried al lhe lower of nel book value and fair value less cost to sell.
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ouiletworks Holdlnes LP lt.k.a Stonopoax Spear Gayman LP) (Reg:93017, Cayrnrn lrlandr)
Notes to the Flnanclal Strtementg
tor tho perlod snded 31 Decsmbor 2018

2, Slgnlllcant .ccountlng Judgemonts, estlmate3 and arsumptionr (confd,)

2.10 lntangible aslets

Externally acquired inlangible assets such as softnare are Initially recognised at cost and subsequenlly
amorlised on a slraight-lino basis over lheir useful economic lives.

lntangible assets are recognised on business combinations if they are separable from the acqulred entlly or
give rlse to olher contractual4egal rights. The amounts ascribed to such intangibles are arrived at by using
appropriate valualion lechniques.

Development costs are capilalised based on an assessmsnt on whether they meet lhe crileria laid down in
lAS38 for capilallsation. Capitalised developmenl cosls are amortised over their usetul life. The useful life is
based on managemenl eslimates of the period that lhe asset will generate revenue and is periodically
reviewed for appropriat€ness.

Goodwlll

Goodwill arising on lhe acquisition ol a subsidiary represents lhe excess of the cosl of acquigition over lhe
Group's interesl in lhe net fair value of lhe identifable assets, liabilities and contingent liabililies of the
subsidiary or iointly controlled entity recognised at the dat€ ot acqulsilion.

Goodwlll on subsidiaries is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses.

For lhe purpose of impairmenl tesling. goodwill is allocated to 6ach of the Group's cash-generating units
expected lo benefit from lhe synergles of the combination. Cash-generaling units to which goodwill has
been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more fiequenlly when lhere is indicalion that lhe unit
may be impaired. It the recoverable amount of the cash€eneraling unit is less than lhe carrying amounl ot
the unit, lhe impairment loss is allocatod firsi to r€duce lhe carrylng amount of the goodwill allocated to the
unit and then to lhe assets ol lhe unit pro-rala on lhe basls of lhe carrying amount of each assel ln lhe unil,
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

On disposal of a subsidiary, the atlribulable amount of goodwlll ls lncluded in the d€lermination of gain or
loss on dlsposal.

Customer Conlracls

Customer conlracls acqulred are recognised al lheir fair value at the acquisilion date. The cuslomer
contracts have a finile useful life and are canied al cosl less accumulated amortisalion. Amortisation is
calculated uslng the slraight-line method over lhe conlract period of up to '15 years.

Seflwarc-licaocas

Acqulred sofrivare licenses are initially capitalised al c,osls which includes lhe purchase pric€ (net of any
discounts and rebales) and othel directly attribulable costs of preparlng the software lor ils lntended use,
including employee related costs. Direct expendilure which enhances or exlends lhe performance of lhe
soflware beyond its specifications and which can be reliably measured is added to the original cost of the
software. Costs associaled wilh maintaining the software are recognised as an expense as incurr€d.
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2. Slgnltlcant accountlng judgemonts, ostimateo and assumptlons (confd.!

2.10 lntanglbleaslets (cont'd.)

Soffware licences {confd. }

Sofiware licenses are subsequenlly carri€d at costs less accumulated amorlisation and accumulated
impalrmenl losses. These costs are amortised to profit or loss using he straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives of 4 years.

Trademarks

Trademarks ar6 slaled al cosl less accumulaled amortisalion and accumulated lmpairment losses. These
costs are amorlised to profft or loss uslng lh€ slralght-llne method over 5 years, whlch is the shorter of lhelr
estimated useful lives and periods of contractual rights.

2,11 lnvestment ln subsldlary

lnvestment in subsidiaries is slated at cosl less impairmenl in value, if any, in the Partnershlp's separale
statem€nt of financial position.

Amounts owing by subsidiaries where setllements are nolther planned for nor exp€ct€d in tho foreseeabl€
future are Uealed a8 part of lhe invesiment cost in lhe subsidiary and aro presenled as such (see also Nole
16).

2.12 lmprlrment of non-financlal assets excludlng goodwlll

At the end of each financial year, the Group reviews the carrying amounls of its langible and inlangible
assels to delermine 

'nhether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an lmpairment loss. lf
any such indicalion exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated ln order to det€rmlne the oxtent
of lhe lmpaiment loss (lf any). Where lt is not posslble to esllmale the recoverable amounl ol an indivldual
assei, the Group eslimales the recoverable amounl of the cash generaling unit to which the asset belongs.

lntangible assols with lndefinite useful lives and intangible assels not yet available for use are lested for
impairment annually, and whenever lhere is an lndicalion lhat lhe asset may b€ impahed.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generaling unit is the higher of ils fair value less costs to sell
and ils value in use. ln assessing value in uso, lhe eslimated future cash iows are dlscounted to lheir
present value using a pre-tax discount rale that rellecls currenl markel assessments of lhe time value of
money and the risks specilk to the assel.

lf the recoverable amounl ol an asset (or cash-generating unlt) ls eslimated lo be less lhan its carying
amount, the canying amount of lhe asset (cash{enerating unll) ls reduced to lts recoverable amount. An
impairm€nt loss is recognised immediately in prolil or loss, unless lhe relevant asset is carried al a revalued
amount, in which case lhe impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
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2. Slgnlllcant accounting Judgements, estimates and aBsumptions (cont'd.)

2.12 lmpairment of non-flnanclal aasets excluding goodwlll - (cont'd.)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying arnount of the asset (cash-generating unil) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amounl, bul so thatlhe increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount lhat would have been detennined had no impairment loss been recognised
for lhe asset (cash-generating unit) ln prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant assel (or cash-generating unit) is canied at a revahEd
amount. in which case lhe reversal of the impairnlenl loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

2,'13 Assets classitied as held-for-sale

Assels classilied as held-for-sale are carried at the lower ol carrying alnount and fair value less costs to sell
if their carrying amount is recovered principally lhrough a sale transaction rather lhan through continuing
use. The assets are nol depreciated or amortised while they are classilied as held-for-sale. Any impairment
loss on initial classitication and subsequent nreasuremenl is recognised as an expense. Any subsequenl
increase in fair value less costs to sell (not exceeding the accumulaled impairment loss lhat has been
previously recognised) is recognised in prolit or loss.

2.1,1 Flnancialinstrumonts

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group's consolidated statement of finarrcial
position when the Group becorres a party lo the contraclual provisions of the instrument.

Effective interes!-mglhed

The effeclive lnterest melhod is a method of calculating lhe amorlised cost of a linancial instrument and
allocating the interest income or expense over the relevant period. The etfective interest rate is the rate lhat
exactly discounls estimated fulure cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid or received
thal form an integral part of the etfective interest rale. transaclion costs and other prerniums or discounts)
through lhe expected life of lhe linancial instrument. or where appropriate. a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount of the financial instrument. lncome and expense are recognised on an effeclive interest
basis for debt inslruments olher than those financial instruments at fail. value through profit or loss.

Financlal assets

All financial assels are recognised on a trade date where the purchase of a financial asset is under a

conlract whose tefins require delivery ol the financial asset vJithin the time frame established by lhe nrarket
concerned, and are initially measured at fair value. plus transaction costs.

Effective interesl melhod

Non-derivative financial assets which have fixed or detenninable payments that are nol quoted iD an active
markel are classilied as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are measured at amorlised cost.
using lhe effective interest method, less impairment. lnterest is recognised by applying the etfective interest
rate, except for short-tefln receivables when lhe recognition of interest would be immaterial.

The Group's and the Partnership's loans and receivables in lhe statement of tinancial posilion comprise
lrade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.
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2. Slgnificant accounting judgomonto, osllrnates and ase umptlons (confd.)

2.ltl Flnancla! lnstrumenb {confd,)

Financlal assets - (cont'd.)

Cash and cash eouivalenls

Cash and cash equivalenls comprise cash in hand and cash wilh banks and ffnancial institutions. Cash
equivalenls are shorl-term, hlghly llquld lnveslmenls that are readily convertible to known amounls of cash
and are subiect to an lnslgnlfcant risk of changes ln value.

lmoahment of financial assets

Financial assets. other lhan those al fair value lhrough profil or loss, are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end ol each fnancial year. Financial assols are impaired where there is objeclive
evidence that, as a resull of one or more evenls lhat occurred affer the inilial recognition of the linancial
asset. the estimaled future cash flows ol the investmont have be€n lmpacted.

For fnancial assels carried at amortised cost, lhe amount ol the impairmenl is lhE difference belween lhe
asset's carrying amount and lhe present value of e$lmated fulure caoh nows discounted al the original
€fteclive interesl rate.

The carrying amounts of all financlal ass€ts are reduced by the impairment loss directly with lhs exceplion of
trade receivables where lhe carrying amounl is reduced lhrough lhe use of an allowance account. Changes
ln lhe carrylng amounl ol the allowsnce account are recognised in profl or loss.

Wth the ex@ption of available-for-sale equity lnslruments, if, in a subsequent period, lhe amount of th€
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be relaled objectively to an event occurring after the
impairmenl loss was recognised, the previously recognised impairmenl loss is reversed lhrough profit or loss
lo the extenl lhe carrying amounl of the investmeni at the dal€ the impairment is reversed does nol exceed
what the amortlsed cost ll,ould have been had the impalrmenl nol been recognised.

ln respecl of available-for-sale equity instrumonls. any subsequenl increase in fair value after an impalnnent
loss is recognlsed dkectly in equity. excepl for impairment losses on equily inslruments al cosl which ar€ not
reversed.

Der€coqnition of linancial assets

The Group derecognises a linancial asset only when he contraclual rights to the cash flows from lhe asset
expire. or il transfers the financial asset and substantially all lhe risks and rewards of ownership of lhe asset
to another entily.

On derecognition, any difference between the carrying amount and the sum of proc€€ds recelved and
amounls previously recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in proft or loss.
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2. Sigritlcrnt accountlng ludgemenls, e3tlmetes and assumptlons (confd.)

2.14 Flnrncialinitrumonts(cont'd.)

Flnanclal llabllltles and equlty lnstruments

Classilication as debl or eouilv

Financial liabilities and equity instrumenlg issued by lhe Group are classifed according to the substance of
lhe contractual arrangemenls entered into and the definilions ot a ftnancial liability and an equily inslrumenl.

Eouih instruments

An squily inslrument is any contract that evidences a residual interesl in the assets of lhe Partnership after
deducting all of its liabililies, Equily instruments are recorded at lhe proceeds received. nel of diroct issue
costs. The Group classifies ordinary shares as equlty inslruments.

When shares recognised as equily are reacquired, the amount of considerallon paid is recognised dheclly in
equily. Reacquired shares are classilied as treasury shares and presenled as a deduction f.om total equity.
No galn or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase. sale issue or cancellalion of treasury shares.

When treasury shares are subsequently cancelled, the cost of treasury shares are deducted againsl the
share capllal account if the shares are purchased out of capital of the Parlnership, or against lhe r€lained
earnings of lhe Partnershlp if the shares are purchased oul of earnlngs ofthe Partnershlp.

When lreasury shares are subsequenlly sold or relssued pursuanl to lhe employee share option schome,
lhe cosl of lreasury shares is reversed ftom the treasury share account and lhe realised gain or loss on sale
or reisgue, net of any dir€clly attribulable incremental transactlon cosls and relaled income lax, is recognised
ln the capital ;€serve of lhe Partnership.

Flnanclal llabllkleg

Financial liabilitiss are classllied as either linancial liabilili€s at fair value through prolil or loss or other
financlal llabllitles.

Financial liabilities are classilied as fair value lhrough prolit or loss if the linancial liability is eilher held for
lrading, including derivatives not designated are eftecllv€ as a hedglng inslrument: or lt is designated as
such upon inilial recognition.

Other tlnanc lal liabilitles

Borrowinos

lnteresl-bearing bank loans and overdrafls are inltlally measured at fair value. and are subsequently
measured at amortised cosl. using th6 effeclive interest rale melhod. Any difference b€tween the proceeds
(nel of lransaction cosls) and ihe settl€menl or redemption of borrowings is recognlsed over the term of the
borrowings ln accordance wilh the Group's accounting policy for bo,rowing cosls (Note 2.7).

Trade and other pavables

Trade and other payables, includlng payables to relaled parti€s, are initially measured al fair value, net of
lransaclion costs. and are subsequently measured at amorlised cost, where applicable, using lhe effective
interesl melhod.
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2. Slgnltlcant accountlng ludgements, estlmates and assumptlons (confd.)

2.ltl Flnanclal lnrtrurnents (cont'd.)

Flnanclal llabllltles and eguity lnitruments - (confd,)

Dorocognltlon ot llnancl.l llabllltleg

The Group derecognises financial liabllllles when, and only when, the Group'6 obligalions are discharged,
cancelled or they explre. The difference between he carying amount and the consldera0on pald ls
recognised in profit or loss.

Where an exisling financial liability is replaced by anolher fronl the same lender on subslantially different
terms, or the ierms of an exisling liability are substantially modiffed, ouch an exchange or modilicallon is
lrealed as a deremgnltion of the o.lginal llablllty and the recognitlon of a new liability, and lhe dilference in
lhe respective carrying amounts ls recognised in profit or loss.

Where fnancial instruments are redeemed prior to maturity, the diffsr6nce botweon the redemption
proceeds and the carrying value at the date of redemplion ls recognlsed in protll or loss. Where financial
inslrumenls are converted to equity the increase in equily is record€d at lhe carrying value of the linancial
llability al the date of conversion.

2.{5 Provlslong

Provisions are recognlsed when the Group has a presenl legal or conslructive obligation as a result of a pasl
€v€nt, it is probable that lhe Group will be required lo setlle the obligation. and a reliable esllmate can be
made of lhe amounl of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is lhe best estimate of the
consideralion required to setde the present obligalion at the end ot lhe tinancial period. taking inlo accounl
lhe risks and uncertalnties surrounding lhe obligalion. Where a provision is measured using lhe cash ffows
estlmated lo setlle lhe present obligalion, ils carrying amounl is the present value of lhose cash ffows.

When some or all of the economic benefts requhed to settle a provlsion are expected lo be recovered fiom
I third parg, lhe receivablo is recognlsed as an asset lf lt ls vlrtually certain that reimbu.semenl will be
recelved and lhe amount ol lhe receivable can be measured reliably. The increase in lhe provision due to
lhe passage of time is recognised in the statement of comprehensive lncome as ffnance oxpens€.

Changes ln lhe esllmated tlmlng or amount of lhe expenditure or discount rate are recognised in profil or
loss when the changes arlse.

Provisions for dilapidations 8re recognised when lhe Group has a pres€nt obligation as a result of a pasl
event, it is probable that a transfer of economic beneft will be required to seltle lhe obligalion and a reliable
estimate can be made of lhe amount of the obligation.

2.16 Loasos

ErEoscleace

Leaseg are classitied as finance leases whenever the terms of the lea8e transt€r subslanllally all the risks
and rewards incidental lo ownershlp of the leased assels to lhe lessee. All other leases are classitied as
operaling leases.
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2. Slgnlflcant accountlng ludgementr, eellmatea and .lsumptlons (cont'd,)

2.18 Le.ses -(confd.)

Assels held under finance leases are capilalised as plant and equipment of lhe Group at lhelr falr value at
the inception of the lease or, if lower, at lhe present value of the minimum lease payments. The
conesponding liability to lho lossor is included in the statemenl of financial position of th€ Group as a finance
lease obligalion. Lease payments are apportioned belween finance charges and reduclion of the lease
obligation so as io achieve a constant rate of inleresl on the remaining balance of lhe llability. Flnance
charges are charged dir€ctly to the consolidated slatement of profl or loss, unless they are lssue costs, in
which case lhey are initially rocognised as a reduclion in lh6 procseds of lhe associaled capilal instrument
(Nore 2.7).

Ooeratino leases

Iie Group as /essor

Rental lncome ftom operating leas€s (net of any lncentlves given to lessoes) is recognis€d on a slraight-line
basis over lhe term ol the relevant lease unless another systemalic basls ls mor€ representative of lhe lime
pattem in which user benefit derived from the leased assel is diminished. lnitial direct costs incurred in
nogotiating and ananging an oporallng lease are added to lhe carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised on a straighl-line basis over the lease term,

Ihe Group as /essee

Rentals payable under operaling leases (net of any incenlives received trom lessors) are charged to pront or
loss on a straight-line basis over lhe term ot the relevant lease unless another systematlc basls ls more
r€presentalive of lhe lime pattem in which economic benefils from the leased agsel are consumed.
Contingent rentals arising under operaling leaEes are recognised a6 an expense in lhe period in which thoy
are lncured.

2.17 Share.based paymants (Manang€ment equhy plan)

euNetworks Holdlngs LP lssued equily-setlled share-based paymenls to c€rlaln employees.

Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at lhe hir value of the equity instrutnents (excluding the
effecl of non markel-bas€d vesting conditions) al the data ot grant. The fair value detormined at lha grant
date of the equity-ssttled share-based paymenls is expensed on a skaight-lin€ basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group's eslimate of lhe number of equlty lnstruments lhal wlll evenlually vesl and adlusled for
lhe eflect of non marketbased vesling conditions.

Fair value is measured using either th€ Black-Scholes or the Monte Carlo prlclng model. The expected lite
used in the model has been adjusted. based on management's best estimale. tor lhe eftects of non-
lransferabilig, exsrciss reslrictions and behavioutal consideralions.
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2. Slgnlflcantaccountlngludgemenls, estlmates and assumpllons (confd.)

2.18 Related partles

A related party is delined as follows:

a) A person or a close of member of lhat person's family is .elated to lhe Group and Partnership if that
person:

i) Has control or joinl conlrol over lhe Partnership;
ii) Has significant inlluence over the Parlnership; or
iii) ls a member of the key managemenl personnel of the Group or Parlnership or of a parenl of lhe

Parlnership.

b) An entily is related to the Group and the Parlnership if any of the followlng condilions apply:
i) The entily and lhe Parlnership are members of the same group (whlch means thal each parent,

subsidiary and fellow subsldlary is related lo ihe olhers);
ii) One entity is an associale or joint venture of the olher enlity (or an associate or joint venture of a

rnember of a group of which lhe other entity is a member):
iii) Bolh enlilies are joint ventures ot lhe Eame third partyi
iv) One entity is a joinl venture of a third enlity and he other enlity is an associale of lhe third entityi
v) The entity is a post-employment benelit plan for lhe benelit of omployees of either th€ Partnership or

an entity relaled to lhe Partnershlp. lf lhe Partnershlp ls itsell such a plan, lhe sponsoring employees
are also related lo the Parlnership:

vi) The entity is controlled or iointly controlled by a person identilied in (a);

vii)A person identilied in (axi) has significanl influence over the entlty or ls a member of the key
rnanagement personnel of the enlity (or of a paront of the enlity).

3. Critical accountlng ludgements and key sources ot ostlmation uncenalnty

ln lhe application of lhe Group's accounling polici€s, which are doscrlbod ln Note 2, management made
judgements. estimates and assumptions about lhe carrylng amounls of assets and liabililies lhat were not readily
apparenl fiom olher sources. The eslimates and associated assumptions were baged on hislorical experience
and olher factors that were considered to be reasonable under the circumslances. Aclual resulls may differ from
these estimales.

These estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basls. Revlsions to accounling
€slimat€s are recognised in the period in which the eslimab is revised if the revision alfects only lhal period, or in
the period of lhe revision and future periods ifthe revlsion affecls bolh cunent and future periods.

3.t Grltlcal ludgements made ln applylng the accountlng pollcles

The follorving are lhe crltical judgemenls, apart ftom hose lnvolvlng esllmales lhat managemenl has rnade
in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies and which have a significanl effect on lhe
amounts recognised in the financial statemenls.

i) Leases
Leases are classilied as an operatino lease if the duralion of lhe anangemenls sre for less lhan a ma,or
part of the facililies'useful lives and the pres€nl value of the minimum payments under the arrangement
does nol amount lo at least subslantially all of the fair value ot the facllitios. The cla6sitication of leases
may change if lhere are slgnlficant changes ftom previous estimales of the facililies' useful lives and the
presenl value of the minimum payments. The Group uses all readily available lnformation in estimating
the useful lives and presenl value of minimum payments.
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3. Crltlcal accountlng ludgemont6 and key sources ot ertlmatlon uncertsinty (confd.l

3,1 Crltlcal judgements mado ln applylng the accountlng pollcles (cont'd.)

li) lncorne taxes

The management has exerclsed slgniticant Judgemenl when determining the Group's and the
Partnership's provisions for lncome taxes. These involve assessing the probabilities that deferred tax
assels .esulling ftom deduclible l€mporary diff€rences, unulillsed lax losses and unabsorbed tax
allowances, if any. can be utillsed to olfset fulure laxable income. There are certain transactions and
computalions for wtlich lhe ultlmate tax determination is uncertain du.ing the ordinary course of acllon.
Uncertainli€s exist with r€specl lo the interpretation of complex tax regulalions and the amount and
timing of future taxable income.

Given lhe wide range of intemalional business arrangemenls. lhe long-lerm nature and compl€xity of
existing conhactual agreements, differences arising belween the actual resuhs and the assumptions
made, or future changes to such assumptions, could nec€ssitale adjustments to tax income and expense
in fulure perlods. Such differences of inlerpretation may arise on a wide varlety of issues depending on
the condilions prevailing in the respective Group and Parlnership domicile. The carrying amount of the
Group's income iax payable as ai 31 December 2018 is €0.6m and lhe carrying amounls of deferred lax
assels and liabilities as at 31 Decemb€r 2018 are disclosed in Noto 14 to the linancial slatements.

3,2 Key sources of estlmatlon unce.talnty

The k€y assumptions concerning lhe fulure, and olher key souaces of estimalion uncertainly at lhe
slalemenl of linancial position dale, lhat have a significant risk of causing a material adjushent to the
carrying amounts of assels and llsbllltles and reporled amounls of revenue and expense wilhln the nexl
linancial year, are discussed below.

l) Depr€ciation of phnt and equipment

The Group depreciales lhe plant and equipment, using lhe slraight-line method, over lheir eslimated
useful lives after taking into account their estimated resldual values. The estlmated useful llfe reffecls
manag€ment's estimale of the period thal lhe Group intends to derive future economic benefils from lhe
use of lhe Group's plant and equiprnent. The residual value retlects managem€nl's estimaled amounl
that lhe Group would currently obtaln from lhe dlsposal ot the assel, atter deducling lhe esllmated costs
of disposal, as if the asset were already of lhe age and in the condition expected at the end of ils useful
life. Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments could affect the useful
economlc llves and the residual values of lhese assels which could then consequenlially impact future
deprecialion charges. The carrying amounls of lhe Group's planl and equipment are dlsclosed ln Nole
1 2 to the financial statements.

32



euNetworks Holdlngs LP (t,k.a Stonepeak SpearCayman LP) (Reg:93017, Cayman lslands)
Notes to the Flnanclal Statements
for tha period ended 3l December 2018

3. Critical accountingjudgements and key sources ofestlmatlon uncertainty (cont'd.)

3.2 Key eourcee of ostimation uncertalnty - (cont'd.)
ii) hnpainnent of plant and equipmeni

At lhe end of each linancial year, an assessment is made whether lhere is objective evidence that plant
and equipment is impaired.

An impairment exists when the carrying value of plant and equipmenl exceed their recoverable amount,
which is lhe higher of ils fair value less cosls to sen and its value-in-use. The recoverable amount of
plant and equipmenl is determined based on value-in-use, by discounting the €xp€ctod fulure cash flows
for each cash generaling units ("CGU'). Management considers that the Nelwork business and the 'Data

Cenlre and colocation business'each conslilute a CGU.

The expecled future cash flows are based on financial budgets approved by Management for a period up
to 4 years using a discounl rate of 6.73% and a long term growth rale ol 3.5%. Based on this,
Management estimaled that recoverable of plant and equipment are in excess of its carrying value and
accordingly no allowance for impairment was deemed necessary for planl and equipment as at 31

December2018. ThecarrylngamounlsoftheGroup'splantandequipmentaredisclosedinNotel2to
lhe Jinancial statements.

iii) lmpainnent of intangible assets

At the end of each financial year, an assessmenl is made whether there is ob,iectiv€ evidence that the
intangible assets ar€ irnpaired.

lmpairnrent exisl when the carrying value of intangible assets, comprising of cuslomer conkacls.
lrademarks, softvare and goodwill, exceed their recoverable amount. The recoverable amounl is lhe
higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value-in-use. The recoverable amounts of intangible
assels are delermined based on value-in-use, by discounting the expecled future cash,flows for each
CGU. Management considers that the Network business and the Data Centre and colocalion business
each constitute a CGU.

The recoverable amounl is sensilive lo lhe discount rale used for the discounled cash flow model as rvell
as the expected fulure cash inflows and lhe growth rates used. For further details of assumplions
applied in the impairment assessment of intangible assels and carying amounls ol Group's intangible
assels, refer to Note 13 to lhe financlal statements.

iv) Allorvance for doubtful receivables

lmpakment provisions for lrade receivables are recognised based on the simplified approach within IFRS
I using the lifetime expecled credit losses. Ouring this process the probability of lhe non-payment of the
trade receivables is assessed. This probability is then multiplied by the amount of lhe expected loss
arlsing from detault to determine the lifelime expected credil loss for the lrade roceivables. For trade
receivables, which are reported nel. 6uch provisions are recorded in a separaie provision account wilh
the loss being recognised within cost of sales in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
On confirmation that the lrade receivable lvill not be collectable, lhe gross carrying value of the assel is
written off against lhe associaled provision.

v) Management equity plan

The charge for managemenl equily plan is calculaled in accordance wilh estimates and assumptions
v/hich are described in Note 30 to the tinancial slalements. The valualion model us€d required highly
sub,ective assumptions to be made includlng expected dividend yields, risk-free interest rales and
exp€ctsd slaff turnover. The management drew upon a variely of external sources 10 aid them in
detennination of the appropriate dala to use in such calculations.
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euNetwotk. Holdlngs LP (f.k.r Stoneperk Sporr Cayman LP) (Reg: 93017, Caymtn lslandr)
l{ote! to the Flnanclal Stetaments
for tho perlod endod 31 December 2018

t, Revenue

Network services and sale of network infrastructure
Colocation sewices

Period from
23 Oct 2017 to

3l Dec 2018
€'m

136.5
't1.7

't48.2

Timing of revenue recognition:
Over lime 118.2

Geogrrphical lnformatlon

Revenue based on geographlcal localion of cuslomers are as follows:

Germany
United Kingdom
lr€land
Nelherlands
United States of America
Swltzo.land
France

Others
148.2

The Group has conlracts with financing components where lhe period between the lransfer of the promised
services to lhe cuslomer and paymenl by the customer exc€eds one year. As a consequence. the Group adjusted
lhe time value of mon€y componenl.

The conltact assets and llabllllles arislng as a result of thls, and included in the balance sheel as at 31 Decembet
2018 are as follows:

3l Dec 20{8
€.m

Conlracl assets
Flnanclng component prepayment - Currenl
Financing componenl prepayment - Non.current

1.9

Contract Liabilities

Financing component deferred revenue - Current
Financing component deferred rrv€nue - Non currenl

3.0

Revenue and linance cosls recognised in tho income slaternent in the period to 31 December 2018 as a resull of
adjusling for the lime value of money component on revenue conlracls were as follows:

31 Dec 2018

€'m

lncrease in revenue arising Jrotn lhe lime value of money componenl on conlracls
Finance cosls charged tor lhe time value of money component on contracls (0.4)

0.2

53.5
34.1

22.4
15.0
9.9
2.9
3.0
7.4

0.5
1.4

0.7
2.3

0.6
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euiletworks Holdlngs tP (f.k.a Stonepeak Spear Gayman LP) (R€g: 93017, cayman lsltnds)
Notes to the Flnanclal Statements
for the perlod ended 3l December 20{8

6. Admlnlstratlveexpensas

Perlod flom
23 Oct 2017 to

3{ Dec 2018
€'m

Network operating expenses
Staffcosts (Note 6)
Olher oxpenses
Deprecialion and amorlisalion
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment

184.0

Network operating €xpenses include lhose cosls lhal relale to the genoral operatlon and malnlenanca ol th€
Group's network assets, and networt related charges.

6. Staff costs

Perlod lrom
23 Oct 2017 to

3l Dec 2018
€'m

31.2

33.2
5.8

112.6
1.2

Wages and salsrios
Social security cosls
Pension costs
Management equity plan

Terminalion cosls
Olher staff costs

Adminlslratlon
Operalion
Sales and markeling

The Partnership has no employees.

26.2
4.1
0.7
8.7

0.7
40.4

Less; co6t capilali6ed
Network equlpment
Sofiware

33.2

Wages and salaries include Direclors' remuneration and Direclors' fees. Olher staff costs include cosls of
recruilment and costs of inlerirn staff.

The average number of employees of the Group including dhectors duting lhe perlod were:
31 Dec 2018

(6.5)
(0.7)

49
152
96

297
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euNetwork3 Holdlng! LP (l.k.a Stonepe.k Spear Gayman LP) (Reg:03017, C.yman blands)
I'lote$ to the Flnanclal Statomenti
tor the perlod onded 31 December 2018

7. Keymanagementporsonno!

The key managemenl personnel. who have auhodty for planning, diracting and cont.olling the activilies ol lhe
Group are lhe offlcers authorised by the Board of Direclors,

Perlod fiom
23 Oct 2017 to

3l Dac 2018
€'m

Short term employee benefits
Management €quity plan

5.2

The.e were 3 Officers in lhe Group's defined contribution plan durlng the period. Group pension conldbulions of
€31 k were paid to a money purchase scheme on lheir behalf.

The lolal amount payable to the highest paid Ofiicer in respecl of emolumenls lncludlng the attributed value for
the long term incen[ve plan wag €3.35m.

0. Flnanclalcosts

Perlod from
23 Oct 2017 to

31 Dec 2018
€'m

1.5

3.7

Debt cost wrilten-off
Debt cost amortlsod

lntere$t on bank loans
Fees incurred on acquisition of euNetworks Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries

9. Audltors'remuneratlon

Group and Partnorshlp audit
Tax advisory
Tax compliance

2.8
t.0

11.6
8.6

24.0

Perlod lrom
23 Oct 2017 to

31 Dec 2018
€m

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.5
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eul'letwod(B Holdlngs LP (t.k.a Stonepeak Spear Cayman LP) (Rog: 93017, cayman lslands)
Notes to the Flnanclal Statemonte
for the perlod ended 31 Decembor 2018

10. lncome tax expense(credit)

Psrlod lrom
23 Oct 2Ol7 to

3l Dec 20'18

€'m
Current lax:
- Cunent year
Deferred tax:
- Current year

1.3

(15.2)
(13.s)

Dornoslic irtcome lax is calculated at 190/o of the eslimaled assessable loss for lhe year. Taxalion profit for other
jurisdictions ls calculaled at th€ rates prevailing in lhe relevanl jurisdictions,

The income tax expense varied from lhe amount of income tax expense determined by applying the UK income
tax rale of 19% to prolit before income tax as a resull ot the following differences:

Period fiom
23 Oct 2017 to

3l Doc 2018
em

Loss before income tax (92.0)

lncome tax at stalutory rate of 19%
Tax effect of:
- Diflerenl lax ral€s of overseas operalions
- Movement on unrecognised deferrod lax
- lncome nol taxable for tax purposes
- Movemenl on recognised defened tax
- Expenses not deductible for tax purposes

Tolal taxation (credit)

Cash paid

tulemb€rs capilal issued
Debt
Total purchase consideration

(1 7.s)

0.5
(0.3)
(1.0)

0.1

4.3
(13.e)

The tax rates of overseas operations range from 12.5o/o 10 33o/o.

'11. Buslness comblnatlon

On 11 January 2018 euNetworks Holdings LP (through its subsidiaries; euNetworks Holdings 4 Ltd, euNetworks
Holdlngs 3 Ltd and €unetwo*s Holdings 2 Lld) acquired 100% of lhe issued share capital of €uNetworks Holdings
Llmited and ils subsidiaries. The principal activity of the Group ls as a bandwidth inlrastruclure provider. The
acquisition has sunificantly increased lhe Group's access lo addltlonal equily capital to support its growth. The
Partnochip became lhe ullimate parenl enlity for euNetworks Holdings Limited as part of the restructuring
procsss resulling from lhe acguisilion. Delails of lh€ purchaso consid€rallon, lhe nel assets acquired and goodwill
are as follows:

€'m

518.4
314.6
199.8

1,032.8
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euNetworks Holdlngs LP (l.k.a Stonepa.k Sparr Caymrn LP) (Reg:93017, Crymrn lsl.nd3)
Notos to tho Flnanclal Statements
for tho perlod onded 3l December 2018

11. Buslnese comblnatlon (confd.l

The assets and liabililies recognised as a resull of the acquisilion are as follow6:

Cash and cash equivalenls
Trade receivables
Other receivables and prepaymenls
lntrastruclure assets held lor resale
Plant and equiprnents
lntangible assels
Deferred tax assets
Trade and olher payables
Deterred revenue
lnteresl bearing borrowings
Provisions and conlingenl liabilities
Deferred tax liability
Nel identifiable assets acquired

Book value
€'m

Falr value
adJBtment

€'m

14.0
27.8

7.0
0.1

278.7
9.3
2.3

(26.1)
(38.3)
(97.2)

(3.4)
(3.8) (120.4)

170.4 582.6

658.7
44.3

Falr value
€'m

14.0

27.8
7.0
0.1

937.4
53.6

2.3
(26.r)
(38.3)
(97.2)

(3.4)
(124.2)

753.0

Add: Transaclion f€es and loan arrangement fee
Add: Goodwlll
Total purchase consideration

263.6
1,032.8

The goodwill ls attributable to lhe workforce and the high profitability of the acquked business. lt will not be
deductible for tax purposes.

Tlle fair value of acquired trade receivables was €27.8m. The gross conlraclual amount for trade receivables duo
was €26.1 ot which €0.3m was expected to be uncollecllble.

The acqulred business conlributed revenues ol€148.2m and ngl loss of€92.0m to the Group for the period fom
11 January to 31 December 2018. It the acqulsitlon had occurred on 1 January 201E. consolidated pro-forma
revenue and loss for lhe year ended 31 December 2018 would have been €152.5m and €91.7m respeclively.
These amounts have been calculated using the subgidiary's results and adjusting them for the additional
depreciation and amortlsatlon lhal would have been charged assuming lhe fair value adjuslments to property,
plant and equipmenl and intangible assels had applied ftorn I January 2018. tooether wllh the consequentlal tax
effecls and €xcluding acquisition cosls.

16.2
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euileh,vorks Holding3 LP (t.k,a Stonepeak Spear Gayman LPI (Reg:93017, Cayman lslands)
Notes to tho Flnanclal Statoment8
for the perlod ondod 3l December 2018

12. Plantandequlpment

Group

Accumulated deprechlon
At irrcorporation, 23 October 2017

Depreciation during tle period

Disposals during fte period

Balance at 31 Decefi$er 2018

Telecom Nelwork
n€'hvod€ equlpments

€m €m

Olflce Assotc
lurnlturo & under
cqulpment comtructlon

€m €m
Total

€m
Cost
At irrcorporation, 23 October 2017

Purchase of eul\letforks Holdings Lifiited
and its subsidiaries 7O4.1

Addition during he period 45.1

Disposals during he period (1.3)

Recl6siticadon 3.0

166.9 3.4 3.0

34.0 0.9 L3
(0.1)

29.8

3.7

1.'l

4.8

937.4

82.3

(1.4)

Balarrceat3l Decen$er2018 810.9 200.8 4.3 23 1,0'18.3

1.9 107.1

(0.2) (0.2)

t{et Book \alre 31.12.2018

75.2 _- 106.9

735.7 171.0 2.3 911.4

On ll January 2018 the Partnership acquited euNetworks Holdings Lirnited and its subsidiaries and subsequenlly
revalued planl and equipment to its fair value as at lhe acquisition dale. The reconclllatlon of lhe net book value
as at 1 1 January 2018 is as follours:

75.4

Net book value of planl and equipment at 1 1 January 201E - pre-acquisition

Falr value revalualion of planl and equlpment at acquisition date
Fair value of planl and equipment acquired

As at 31 December 2018, the Group dld not have any assels under finance lease arrangemenls.

13. lntrnglble a!!et!

Group

Customer

conlracts Trademarks Software Goodwlll Total

€'m €m €m €m €m

Cost

At inception, 23 0ctober 2017

Purchase of eul',leMorks HoHings Lirtted

49.9 263.6 317.2

1.1

263.6 318.3

Accumuhted amortisation

At inceplion, 23 October 2017

tumrlisalion

Balance at 31 Decerber 2018

4.3 1.2 5.5

4.3 1.2 5.5

Carryiry arnunt 31.12.2018 45,6 3.6 263.6 31LB

€'m
278.7
658.7
937.4

and its subsidiaries

lddilions

Balance at 31 Decerber 2018
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eultletworks Holdlng. LP (t.k,. Stonope.k Spear Cayman LP) (R€g: 93017, Caymrn lslendll
Notog to th6 Flnanclal Statementg
for lhe period ended 31 Oecember 2016

{3. lnlanglble.ssets (cont'd.)

The goodwlll has been allocated to two CGUS, whlch are also lhe reportable operaling segments, for impairment
tesling as tollows:

Network business
Dala centres and colocalion

The carrying amounls of goodwill allocaled to each CGU is as follows:

Notwork
buslness

31 Dec 2018
em

Data cgntres
& colocallon
31 Dec 2018

gm

Total
3l Dec 2018

€'m

Goodwill 242.8 20.8 263.6

The recoverable amounls of the CGUs are determined trom value-in-use calculations. The key assumptions for
lhese value-in-use calculations are those regarding lhe dlscount rates, growth rates and expected changes to
revenue and costs during the period. Management €stimates discount rates using pre-lax rales that reflec{
currenl markel assessments of the lime value of money and the risks specilic lo the CGUS. The growlh rates are
based on induslry growth forecasts. Changes in revenue and costs are based on past praclices and oxpectallons
of future changes in the market.

The key assumptions adopled for lhe testing include:
a) Pre-lax discount rale - management assessed its weighted average cost of capital and adjusled this rate for

asset specific risks as at 31 December 2018 ln delermlning an appropriate pre.tax discounl rate for
impairment purposes. The resulling discount rale calculated w6s 6,73010,

b) Cash flows - Value-in-use calculalions are based on cash flo\ rs expecled to be generated by the Group over
the next 4 years, and are aligned wilh lhe long-term forecast approved by the Board of Direclors of
euNatworks GP LLC who manage the Pannership. The long-lerm forecast approved by the Board
incorporates forecast operating cash flows for the Network businesg and Dala centres and colocation cash
generaling units. All cash flow proleclions were compleled in Euros.

c) The lerminal value growlh rate applied is 3.5%.

d) Sensilivlty tesling has been performed on lhe value.in-use model applied for a reasonably pos3ible change
ln k€y assumptlons. For both lhe Network business and Data Centre and colocation CGUS. lhe model
showed suflicient headroom over the carrying value of assets, furlher indicatlng no impalrment loss is
r€quired at 31 December 2018.

The testlng carried oul at lhe end of lhe period indicated lhal both the Network business and Data C€ntr€ and
colocalion assels and associated goodwill do nol requlre lmpalrment. Management believes lhal any reasonably
possible change in lhe abov€ key assumplions applied is not likely to malerially cause the recoverable amounts to
be lower than their caarying amounls.
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euNetworts Holdlngs LP (f.k,a Stonepeak Spear Cayman LP) (Reg: 93017, Cayman lslands)
ilotcs to the Flnancl.l Strtements
for the perlod ended 3l December 2018

14. Defered tax assetsr(liabilltlosf

Deferred tax assets and llabilllies aro offset when lhore is a legally enforceable right to offset cunenl incotne tax
assels against cunent lncome tax llabillties and when the debrred lncome laxes relale to lhe same laxalion
authority. The amounts, delermined after appropriate otfsetling, are shown on lhe statemenl of llnancial posilion
ot lhe Group as follows:

31 D€c 2018
€'m

Deferred tax asgets
- lo be recov€red afler one year 0.9

Deferred tax liabilitios
- lo be settled after one year

{ 107.5)

The movements in deferred tax assets are as follows:

Group
At 23 October 2017
Purchase of euNetworks Holdings Limited
Charged to profit or loss doforred

lax assets
At 31 December 2018

The movemenls in defened tax liabilities are a6 tollows:

Dlfference ln
amodls.tlon ol

intangibles

Dlfference ln
dopreclation

tor tax
purposes

€'m
Provislons

€'m

2.3

Provlslong

€'m

2.3

€'m

--
0.9 0.9

€'m€'m

o.2

Total

Total

3.8

120.3

(16.6)

Dlfference ln
amoilleatlon ot

Intanglbles
€'m

Dlfference ln
depreciatlon

for trr
PUrposes

€'mGroup

At 23 October 2017
Purchase of euNetworks Holdings Limiled
Revaluation of new d€fened tax llabilities

arlslng from fair value increases
Charged to prolil or loss deferred

tax llabllities
Al 31 Decernber 2018

2.'.|

8.6

1.5

111.7

_a.L (13.7) (0.2)
8.0 99.5 107.5

Al lhe end of the financial period, lhe Group had unulllised lax losses of approximately €170.6m which are
available for otfset againsl fulure laxable proffts. A deferred lax assel of €0.9rn has been recognised in respecl of
€8.'lm of such losses.

No deferred lax assel has been recognised in respect oflhe remalnlng €162,5m tax losses due to uncerlainty of
thelr future lealisation. These losses may be canied foMard lndefnitely subiecl to agreemenl by relevanl lax
aulhoritles.

The Parlnorship has not recognised, nor has available any deferred tax assets or liabilities.
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euNetwolk! Holdlngr LP (1.k.. Stonoperk Speor Gayman LP) (Regl 93017, Cayman lsLnds)
Note3 to tho Flnanclal St temgnts
for the perlod ended 3l Decombor 2018

15. Prop.yments

Non-curent
Current

Prepayments rnainly perlain to network expense, fbre and office rentals and insurance paid in advance.

The Parlnership had no pr€payments.

16. lnvestment ln subsldiary

Tho detalls of subsidiaries are as follows:

3l Doc 2018

€'m

2.6
5.0
7.6

Nsmo
Country ot
lncolDoratlon Reqloterod address ilature of buslnogs

euNelworks Holdings
4 Limited

Cayman lslands PO Box 309. Ugland House

Grand Cayman
KYl-l 104

Cayman lslands

lnveslment holding company

euN€tworks Holdlngs
3 Limit€d

Cayman lslands PO Box 309. Ugland House
Grand Cayman
KYl-1 104

Cayman lslands

lnvestment holding company

euNelwo*s Holdlngs
2 Limit€d

Unlted Kingdom
(England)

15 Worship Skeet,
London, EC2A 2DT

lnvestmenl holding company

euNetworks'Hddings
Limited

Uniled Kingdom
(England)

15 Worshlp Street,
London, EC2A 2DT

lnveslmenl holding company

euNetworks Group
Limlted

United Kingdom
(England)

15 Worshlp Street.
London, EC2A 2DT

lnveslmenl holding company

euNetworks 1 Pte.
Limited

Singapore 50 Raffles Place
#32-01 Singapore Land Tower,
Singapore 0489623

lnveslmenl holding company/
Dala network services

euNetworks 2 Pte.
Limited

Singapore 50 Rafiles Place
#32-01 Slngapore Land Tower,
Singapore 0489623

Dormanl

euNetworks GmbH Germany Theodor-Heuss-Allee

I 12, 60486 Frankfurt am Main
Deutschland

Data nelwork services
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euNotworks Holdlngs tP (t.k.a Stonepeak Spear Gayman LP) (Regt 930.17, Cayman lslands)
Notes to the Flnanclal Statements
for the perlod ended 3'l December 2018

16. lnvestmont ln subsldlary (contd.)

The detalls of subsldlaries are as follows (cont'd):

The Parlnership has an effective equity inleresl of 1 0070 in all subsidiaries as at 31 December 201 8.

Duling the period, the Group incorporated euNetworks Fiber S.L. for the purpose of expanding its business
demographic in Spain.

Name
Country of
lncorooratlon Reglstered addresg Nature of buslnegs

euNetworks lreland
Private Fiber
Llmlted

lreland Sulte D16 (2nd Floor M),
The Cubes Ofiices,
Beacon South Quarler,
Sandyford, Dublin 18, lreland

Data network services

euNetworks B.V The Nethedand: Paul van Vlissingenslraal 16,
1096 BL Amsterdam, The
Netherlands,

Data network services

euNetworks Oala
Centres BV

The Netherland! Paul van Vlissingenstraat 16,
1096 BL Atnste.dam, The
Netherlands.

Data network services

Data network serviceseuNetworks DCH

BV
The Netherlands Paul van Vlissingenslraat 16,

,l096 BL Amsterdam, The
Netherlands.

euNetworks Fiber
UK Limited

United Kingdom
(England)

15 Worship Streel,
London, EC2A 2DT

Dala network services

European Fiber
Neturorks Assel

GmbH (in liquidalion)

Germany Theodor-Heuss-Allee
112, 60486 Frankfurt arn Maln
Deutschland

ln liquidalion

European Flber
Networks "GND'

GmbH (in liquidation)

Germany Theodor-Heuss-Allee
112, 60486 Frankfurt am Main
Deulschland

ln liquidation

euNetworks SAS France 1 5 rue Beaujon
75008 Paris. France

Data network services

euNetworks BVBA Belgium

'swltzertanO

Blvd Louis
Schrniduaan I 1 9, Bus 3,

Erussels 1 040

Dala network sef.ices

Data network serviceseuNetworks AG c/o Kdmpfen
Rechtsanwalte
Gerechtlgkeitsgasse 23
800'l Z0rich, Swilzerland

euNetworks srl Italy Vlale Abruzzi, 94, 20131
Milan, ltaly.

Data network services

euNetworks Fiber
s.L.

Spaln Calle Velazquez , 53,
Madrid, Spain

lnfraskucture provision
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euNetworks Holdlngs LP (f,k.r Stonepeak Spear Gayman LP) (Rog: 93017, Cayman lslands)
Not s to tho Flnanclal Statements
for the perlod endod 3l Docomber 2018

17, lnfr.structure $3ots hold tor rooalo

The infrastructure assets held for resale is €0.1m at 3l December 2018 which comprlsed specific network assets.

18. Trede recelvables

3l Doc 20t8
€'m

Amounls due fom lhhd parlies 24.1
(0.31Allowance for doubtful trado receivables

23.8

Allowances made in r€spect of estlmaled lrrecoverable amounls are delermined by reference to past defaull
experlence.

The Group does not hold collateral as security for its trade receivables.

Movoments in allowance for doubiful kade receivables are as follows:
31 Dec 2018

€'m

Balance at 23 Oclober 201 7

Arising from acquisllion of euNetworks Holdings Limited and subsldiarles
(Deducted)/added against allowance
Balance al 31 December 2018

0.3

0.3

The age analysis of kade r€c€ivables pasl due bul nol impaired is as follows:

3'l Oec 2018
€'m

Days due:
0 - 90 days
91 - 180 days
181 days and over
Total 0.8

Management considers that lhe carrying amount of trade receivables in lhe fnancial statements approximates to
their fair values.

Trade r€ceivables lhal were pasl due and nol impaired are due ftom subslanlial companies with a good colleclion
track record wilh the Group.

The currency profiles of the Group's trade r€ceivables as al 31 December 6re as follows:

31 Dec 2018
€'m

Euro
Pound Sterling
US Dollar
Swiss Franc

23.8

4.9

0.3
1.6

13.8
9.3

0.3
0.4
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euiletworks Holdln$ LP (t lce Stonepeek Spe.r Caymrn LP) (Reg:93017, Ceymrn bhnds)

for the porlod endod 3l December 2018

19. Othrrrecolvrbleg

Deposits

Sundry recelvables

The cunency profiles of lhe Group's other receivables as at 31 December are as follows:

Euro

The Parlnership had no olher receivables.

20. C.sh end cash oquavalont

The cunency prolller of the Group's cash and cash equlvalents as al 31 December a.e a9 follows:

Bank balances
Short-lerm d€posits

The Partnership had no cash and cagh equlval€nts.

The cunency profiles of the Group's lrade rocaivables as at 31 December are as follow8:

Euro

Pound Sterling
Slngapore Dollar
US Dollar
Othsrs

3l Dec 20{8
€.m

0.5
2.2
2.7

3l Ooc 2018

€'m

2.7

3'l Dec 2018

€'m

10.6
1.5

12.1

3l Dec 2018
€'m

8.6
1.8
0.5
0.9
0.3

12.1

Bank deposlts are mainly deposils wilh banks wilh high credit ratings assigned by lnternalional raling agencies.
The majorlty of these deposfts are bank gq@unts that guarantee seMces provided by corlaln suppller$ and are
lherefore in place monlh to monh as long the Group uses those suppliers,
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sul{otrrcrk3 HoHlng! LP (t lG. Stoncpeak Spoar Grymtn LPI (Re$ 83017, Ciymrn blend.}

forthe perlod endod 3t Decer$er 2018

21. Oofcrod rovonuo

The delened revenuo will be r€leased
- wilhin one financlal year

- Bgtrvgen i'lp and five flnanclal years
- mor€ fian tlve financlalyears
Total non-curront deblred levenue

3l Dec 20t8
€'m

8.9

16.1

9.0
28.0

Total defened revenue 36.9

Deferr€d revenue comprlses da.k flbre lea6os, operational and maintenance s€rvlces as wsll as instalhlion fees.

22. lrldo end olhor pey.blog

31 Doc 2018
gm

Curent llabllltle!
Trade payables - owed to lhlrd partles
Other payables - owed to lhid padies
lncome lax
Accrued oxp€nses

10.3
't.3
0.6

33.5
45,7

No inleresl is charged on the lrade and othgr payables,

The currency proffles ot the Group's lrade and other payables as al 31 December are as bllours:

3l Dcc 2018
€'m

Euro
Pound Sterllng
US Dollar
S$,edish Krona
Swiss Franc

Managemenl consider3 lhat he canylng amount of trade and olher payables ln tho ffnanclal slalemonts
approxlmates their falr value,

33,S

10.7

0.2
0.2
0.7

45.7
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Nolos to the Flnanclal Slatementa
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23. lnterost boarlng Borrowlnge

Non-cunent
Bank loan
Nel Term Loan B on acquisition
Add: unamortlsed debl ralse costs on acqulsltlon
Gross Term Loan B on acquisilion
Repaid on 1 1 January 201 8 from new term loan B drawn

New Term Loan I drawn on acquisition
Draw downs since acquisilion

Add: unamortlsed debt raise costs on acquisltlon
Bank loan balance at 31 December 2018

31 Oec 2018
€'m

97.2
2.8

100.0
(1 00.0)

300.0
20.0

-----------310:6-
(6.4)

313.6

Bank loan as above
Add: unamortlsed debt ralse costs
Gross bank loan 320.0

Maturily of the loan:
Over 5 years 320.0

Bank loan
The Group's seoured bank loans are securod by a fixed and ffoaling charge over cerlain of th€ Group's assets.

The average effoclivo borrowing rales during th€ Rnancial period is Euribor plus 3.5% per annum and have a
malu.ily dsle of 6 years from linancial period ended 31 December 201 8.

The Group has undrawn committed bonowings available at 31 December 2018 of €55m. for which all conditions
have bsen met, as parl of a revolving facility of €75m on a floaling rate expiring in 5 years,

The bank loan is denonlinated in Euro.

Costs laken to the balance sheet in respect of lhis debt, lo be amortlsed over lts llfe, were €6.4m and these
defened costs have been netted otf agalnst the debt in the consolidaled stalement of financial posilion.

Management estlmates thal the carrylng amount of the bank loan approxlmales lts lalr value due to fequent r€-
priclng.

The Partnershlp has no interosl-bearlng borrowings.

24. Provlslonc

31 Doc 2018
€'m

Al inception
Arising from acquisition of euNeturorks Holdings Limited and gubsidiaries

Reversal of provisions during lhe period
Al 31 December2018

The provision relales lo restoralion costs ol the rebulldlng obligalions lhat exist on lhe 21 points of presence
locations in Germany.

The Partnership has no provisions.

313.6
8.4

3.0
(0.4)

2.6
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26. Momb.r3 lntorort

3l Dec 20t8 3l Dec

Chre A-l
Unlt!

E33,400

(17)

Clase B

Protlte
lnterest

Unlt3
At formalion of lhe Partnership

Members Class A.1 Units wilh nominal

valu6 of €1.000 per unit

Class A-l Units buyback during lhe petiod

Members Class B Profils lnterest Units
At31 December2018

175.743
833.383

lncrease ln infraslructure assets held for resale
lncrease in trade receivables
lncrease in other recelvables and prepayments

lncrease in trade and other payables
lncrease ln deferred revenue
lncrease in provisions

31 Dec 2018

€'m

833.4

0.5
175,743 833.9

Members Class B Prolits lnterest Units are awarded to lhe employees of the Group al the discretion ot lhe Board
of Dlrectors.Asatperlodended3l December20lS,thetotal valueof MembersBinterestsstoodat€550.834.

26. Reserves

i) Employee share option reserve
ln 2018 a new Management Equity Plan was set up by the Partne.ship, lhe interests in which. could be
realised on lhe inv€slors in lhe Parlnership realising their investments, The movement ln share oplion
reserves is disclosed on Page '12.

li) Relained eamlngs
The retained earnings resele conlains lhe gains and losses recognised in the consolidated income
statemenl. The movement in proftt and loss reserves is disclosed on Page 10.

27, Changes ln worklng capltal

3l Dec 2018
€'m

(0.1)
(23.E)
(16.7)

29.4
36.9

2.6
28.3
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28. Commllments

Operatlng leaso commltmentE

Group as /essea

The Group has enlered into commercial nonrancellable lea6es on propertios (ofllces, poinls of presence), dark
fibre, data c€nlre space, motor vehlcles and small items of equipmenl wh€r€ it is nol in lhe best interests of the
Group to purchase these assets. The leases have an average life of betureen 3 and 10 years wllh renewal terms
included in tho contracts. Renewals ar€ al the oplion ol the specific entity that holds the lease. There are no
reslrictions placed upon the l€ssse by entering into lheee leases.

Group

Nol later lhan one year
Laler than one year and nol laler than five years
Later than live years

4.3 29.7
12.1 49.6

5.3 30.9_
2L7 1102

Land and
bulldlngs

31 O€c 2018
€'m

Others
31 Dac 201 8

€'m

Total
31 Dac 2018

€,m

34.0
61.7
36.2

131 .9

The operaling leases predomlnantly relate lo leaseg of libre networks.

The operating lease charge lor lhe period was €36.3m.

6/oup as ressor

The Group has enlered inlo commercial leases on its network propertres. The following table sets out the future
minimum lease payrnents receivable under operating leases as at 31 December as follows:

Group

Not later than one year
Later lhan one year and not laler lhan five years
Later lhan five years

Capltal commitment3
As at the end of lhe financial period, commilments in respect ol capital exp€ndilure are as follows:

Group

Capilal expendllure contracled but not provlded for
- Commltmenls for the acquislton of planl and equiprnent

The Parlnership had no operating leases.

3l Dcc 2018
€'m

27.9
45.9
23.2
97.0

3l Dec 2018
€'m

26.3
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29. Related partlos dlsclosutos

Key management personnel remuneralion is disclosed in Note 7

The Group boughl equipmenl and services amounling to €8.5m from a supplier. Ciena, a company that a director
of euNetworks GP LLC was also a director up to 11 June 201q. Amounts billed were based on markel rates for
such equipment and services and we.e due and payable under normal lerms of payment.

30. Management equlty plan

ln 2018 a new Managemenl Equity Plan was sel up by the Partnership, certain employeos received Class B
Profits lnteresl Units in the Pa(nership, lhese inlerests vest eilher: l) over 4 years commencing 12 Ja uary 2018
or ii) they fully vest on lhe sale of lhe Parlnership and its subsidiary undertakings. There were 175.743 Class B
Profits lnteresi Units in issue as al 31 December 201 8.

The fair value of the Class B Profits lnlerest Units in Managemenl Equity Plan which was calculated using a Monte
Cado simulalion at lhe time of lhe inilal issue of ihe inlerests was €35.9m. The fair value charge for lhe period in
respecl of the Class B Profits lnterest Units that vested in lhe period was €8.7m, lhis charge has been taken to lhe
income statement in the period.

31. Post balance sheet events

On 28 March 2019, lhe Group acquired 100a/o o'f the issued shares of Onstage Online GmbH. a libre company
headquartered in Vienna, Austria, for lotal consideration of €10.8m. The acquisition will futher enhance the
Group's conneclivity in Europe and brings with it our 15th duct based tnetropolitan nelwork.

On 10 April 2019, the Partnership raised €50.0m from an issue of additional Al inleresls to existing interest
holders.

On 15 May 2019, the Group increased its lorm loan B facility by€30m on lhe same terms as the existing €300m
lerm loan B.

32 Financlal rlsk management objectlves and policies

The Group's activilies expose it to credit risks. market risks (including foreign currency risks and inleresl rate risks)
and liquidily risks. The Group's overall risk managemenl stralegy seeks lo mininrise adverse effects trom the
volatilily of financial markets on the Group's linancial performance.

The Group uses financial inslrumenls such as foreign currency forward contracls and interest rate swaps to hedge
certain financial risk exposures.

The Board of Directors was, during the period, responsible for setting lhe objectives and underlying principles of
financial risk management for the Group. The management then established lhe detailed policies such as
authority levels, oversight responsibilities, risk identilication and measuremenl, exposure limits in accordance with
lhe obJectlves and underlying principles approved by the Board of Directors.

Financial risk managemenl is carried oul by a central finance team in accordance with the policies sel by the
managemenl. Risk management is inlegral lo the whole business of lhe Group. The Group has a system of
controls in plac€ to creat€ an acceplable balance between cost of risks occurring and the cost of managing risks.
The managemenl continually monitors the Group's risk management process lo ensure that an appropriate
balance between risk and control is achieved.
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Noler io lhe Fin.nclal Statsments
for the perlod ended 3t December 2018

32. Flnanclal rlsk managemont oblectlves and policles (contu.)

There have been no changes to the Group's exposur€ to thes6 linanclal rlsks or lhe mann€r ln which it manages
and measules lhe rlsk. Market risk exposures are measur€d using sensitfulty analysis as indicated below.

Crcdit tisk

Credit rlsk is lhe risk lhat the counlerpa(y will default on its conlraclual obllgatlons resulllng in a loss to the Group.

The Group lrades only with recognised and creditworlhy lhird parlies. ll is the Group's policy that all customers
wtto wish to lrade on credil terms are subject to credit v€rificalion procedures. ln addition, lrad€ r€ceivabl€s are
monitored on an ongoing basis wilh lhe result lhat the Group's exposure to bad debts is not signif cant.

The Group has no significant concenlralion of credit risk because trade receivables consisl of a large number of
cuslomers, spread across diverse induslries and geographical areas. Ongoing credll evaluation is performed on
the financial conditions of trade receivables.

For banks and fnancial institutions, only independently raled and regulated parties are accepted. lf customers are
independently rated, these ralings are used. Olhemise, iflhere is no indopendent rating, lhe Group assesses lhe
credlt qualily of lhe cuslomer, taking into account its financial position, pasl experience and other factors.
lndividual risk limits are sel based on intemal or extemal ratings in accordgnce wilh limils sel by lhe management.

With resp€ct to credit risk arising from the other financial assels ol lhe Group and the Parlnership, which comprise
cash and cash equivalenls and other receivables, the Group's exposure io credit risk arises from detault of lhe
counterparlies, wilh a maximum exposur€ equal to the carrying amount of lhese inslruments. The managemenl
does not expect counterparties lo fail to meet their obligations.

Liquidily risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group and the Partnership wlll nol be able to meet ils ffnanclal obllgations as they
fall due. The Group and lhe Parlnership manage the liquidity risk by maintaining a level of cash and cash
equivalenls deemed adoquale lo finance the Group's and the Parlnership's business operations, future capital
expenditure and for working capilal purposes. The Group's and the Parln€rshlp's objec{iv€s are to mainlain a
balance between continuing of funding and flexibility lhrough lhe use of converlible bond issues and may consider
olher fund raising exercise such as right issues, private placements or equily-related exercise.

The Group prepares weekly rolling cash flow forecasts which are reviewed by managemont. Liquidity is managed
centrally by the Group linance functlon. The followlng tablo detail lhe Group's and Partnership's romaining
contraclual maturity tor its non-derivative financial inslruments. The table has been drawn up based on
undiscounted cash flows of linancial instrumenls based on lhe earlier of the contractual date or when lhe Group is
expected to r€c€ive (or pay). Tho table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Efiecilve
lntarcgl
fa/F.?l

Uplo 3

Gln€m

Eclwcen 3
to12 Batweanl Eetwaen2

t finlhs ao 2 yeers lo 4 y@rs
ern €ln €1,

Over
4 ye,'s

ClnGroup
Flnanchl assals
Cash end cqsh equivalenl

Trade a1d olher recei\aues
At 31 Dec 2018

0
0

0
4

mnhs Tobl

12.1 12.1

26.5 -_ _,,:_ __._..__._..-.. .. : - _.-, 26.5_
38.6----38.6

,9?9.q

45.7

9ao-.,q

365_7320.0

Flnanchl lhbllitles
Trade sd olher payables

Bank lo€n

At 31 Oec 2018

45.7

ig7

The Parlnership did nol have any financial obligalions during the period.
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32. Flnanclal rlek management objoctlv€s and pollcles (confd.)

Inlerest rate isl<

lnterest rate dsk is the risk that fluctuations ln lnteresl rales could resull in changes in interesl income and
expense as well as the value of linancial instrum€nts.

The Group's income and operating cash flows are substantially independent ot changes in market interesl rale.
The Group has no significanl interest-bearing assels and lisbililies olher than lhe bank debt drawn down during
the llnancial perlod.

The Group's pollcy ls lo malnlaln an efllclsnl and optimal inler€sl cost slruclure using a combination of fixed and
variable rate debls, and long and shorl lerm bonowlngs. The Group uses derivatlve linanclal lnstrumenls to
hedge its interest rate risk.

lntercst /ate sensllrvrly analysls

The sensilivity analysis below has been determined based on lhe exposure to lnteresl rate risks for non-derivalive
instruments at lhe end of lhe linancial period. For foating rale liabilitigs, the analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of liabllity outstanding at the end of the tinancial period was outslanding for lhe whole period. The
sonsitivity analysis assumes an instanlaneous 5% change in lhe interest rates from lhe end of the financial pefod,
with all variables held constant.

lncreaso , (decroase) in consolldated statement ot protlt or loss and
other comproheneive lncome

Bank loan
lnteresl rale increases by 5%
lnterest rate decreases by 5%
Forelgn currency ilsk

lncrease / (decrease) in consolidated 3tatemrnt of profft or losc and
othe? comprehenslve lncome

Pound Sterllng
Slrengthens againsl Euro
Weakens agalnst Euro

Group
3l Dec 2018

€'m

(16.0)

11.2

Foreign currency risk is the risk thal changes in exchange rates coub result in fluctuation in the value ofassets.
liabilili€s. revenue and costs where the undorlying transaclions and balances are held in loreign cunency.

The Group mainly operales in the Euro zone. most of lhe transaclions in relalion to lhe European buslness are
concluded in Euro and the functional currency of all subsidiaries is Euro.

The Group did nol use derivalive financial inslruments to hedge its foreign curency risk ln tinanclal perlod 2018.

Forelgn cuftency sonsltivlty analysls

The Group is mainly exposed to Pound olerling. During 2018 this exposure was miligated by the fact thal Pound
slerling revenue and Pound sterling costs were closely matched and lherefore lhe Group was naturally hedged.

The following table delails the Group's sonsitivity to a change of 10 eurocent against lhe Pound sterling. The
sensilivity analysis assumes an lnstanlaneous change of 10 eurocenl for a Pound sterling in lhe foreign currency
exchange rates trom the slatemenl of flnancial position date, lvith all variables held constanl.

Group
3l Dec 2018

€'m

2.2
(2.2',,
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33, Fair value of tlnanclal assets and flnanclal llabllltles

Management considers lhal lhe carrying amounts of financial assets and linanclal liabllilles recorded at amorllsed
cost in the ftnancial slatements approximate their fair values.

A summary of the f nancial inslrument held by category is provlded below:

3l Doc 20{8
€'mGroup

Financiat acsetg
Cash and cash equivalenls
Trade and olher receivables
Total loans and receivables

Flnanclal llabllltles
Trade and other payables

lnterest bearlng borrowings
Total financial liabililies at amortised cosl

Group

lnterest bearing bonowings
Cash and cash equivalents
Net debt
Total equlty
Total capital

12.1

26.5

3tl. Capltal managernont pollclos and obJoctiveg

The managemenl's policy is lo ensure lhat the Group is able to continue as a going concern and to maintain a
strong capital base so as lo maintain inveslors, creditors and markel confidence and to sustain future
development of lhe business. The Group manages its capital Etruclure and makes adjustments to it, in light of
changes in economlc condltlons. The Group regards the equlty attrlbutable to shareholders as caplhl. Equily is
represenled by nel assets.

The Group's management reviews the capital structure on a regular basis. As part of lhls review, managemenl
considers the cosl of capltal and the risks associated with each class of capital. The Group balances its overall
capital slructure lhrough new share issues, lhe issue of new debt and lhe redemplion of existing d€bt.

38.6

45.7
313.6
359.3

3l Dec 2018
€'m

313.6
(1 2.1 )
301.5
764.5

1,066.0

Gearing ratio 28.3o/o

The gearing ralio is calculated as nel debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as borrowings less cash
and cash equivalents. Tho tolal capilal is calculated as equlty plus net debt,

The Eoard regularly revlews the fundlng profle of the Group and detennlnes the issu€ or redemption of financial
ingkuments to meel lhe Group's funding requir€m€nl while ensuring an appropriate balance b€tweon debt and
equity.

There are no furlher changes in lhe Group's approach to capital management during the financial period.

Neither lhe Partnership nor any of its subsidiari€s are subjecl to edernally imposed capital requiremenls.

36. Ultlmrle paront undertaklng

The Dlrectors consldered Stonopeak lnfraslructure Fund ll Cayman (S) Upper LP a Cayrnan lslands limited
parlnership to be the ultimale parent undertaking as at the period ended 31 December 2018.

As at the date of signing these financial statemenls in lhe opinion of lhe Directors, Michael Donell and Trent
Vlchle are the controlllng partl€s.
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